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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
Principal activity and review of business 
 
The Directors present the financial statements of Scottish Widows plc (“the Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings (together 
referred to as “the Group”). The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the United Kingdom. Details of the most 
significant subsidiary undertakings are given in note 22. 
 
The principal activity of the Group is the undertaking of ordinary long-term insurance and savings business in the UK.  The Group 
offers a wide range of life insurance products such as annuities, pensions, whole life, term life and investment type products.  
 
With effect from 1 January 2008, the Company ceased to reassure vesting with-profits annuity business to Scottish Widows 
Annuities Limited.  This annuity business is now written directly by Scottish Widows plc. 
 
During 2007, the Company sold its investment in the Abbey Life Assurance Company Limited (“Abbey Life”) to Deutsche Bank 
AG for cash consideration of £977m.  Details of this transaction are given in note 3.  
 
Results and dividend 
  
The result of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 is a profit after tax of £156.6m (2007: £835.6m) and this has been 
transferred to reserves. The result reflects the challenging market conditions experienced during 2008.  Significant realised and 
unrealised losses arose in respect of investments held by the Group.  As the majority of assets held by the Group back policyholder 
liabilities, there was also a substantial reduction in the value of insurance and investment contract liabilities over the course of 2008.  
The prior year result also reflects profits in respect of Abbey Life of £286.8m.  The Directors consider the result for the year to be 
satisfactory in light of these factors.  The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2008 (£220m was paid during 2008 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2007).  No additional dividends (2007: 
£1,647m) were paid during the year. 
 
Further commentary on the Group's business performance is included in the financial statements of Lloyds Banking Group plc. 
 
Future outlook 
 
With effect from 1 January 2009, the linked life business which the Company reassured to Scottish Widows Unit Funds Limited 
(“SWUF”) was recaptured and this business will therefore be written directly by Scottish Widows plc.  Further information in 
respect of this transaction is given in note 46. 
 
The Directors consider that the Company’s other activities will continue unchanged in the foreseeable future. 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
 
The management of the business and the execution of the Company’s and Group’s strategy are subject to a number of risks. The 
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Company and Group and the exposure to market risk, insurance risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk are set out in note 41. 
 
In addition, the Company and Group are also exposed to financial and prudential regulatory reporting risk, in particular the risk of 
reputational damage, loss of investor confidence and/or financial loss arising from the adoption of inappropriate accounting policies, 
ineffective controls over financial reporting or over prudential regulatory reporting and financial reporting fraud.  The financial and 
risk management objectives and policies of the Company and Group in respect of financial and regulatory risk are also set out in 
note 41. 
 
Key performance indicators 
 
The Directors are of the opinion that the Financial Services Authority’s (“FSA”) returns’ solvency margin information and regular 
actuarial reports, in conjunction with the information presented in the financial statements, provide the management information 
necessary for the Directors to understand the development, performance and position of the business of the Company.  The Company 
also forms part of the Insurance Division of Lloyds Banking Group plc.  The development, performance and position of this Division 
are discussed on pages 22 to 28 of the Group’s annual report, which does not form part of this report. 
 
Directors 
 
The names of the current Directors are listed on page 3. Changes in directorships during the year and since the end of the year are as 
follows: 
 
D Buckley  (appointed 7 January 2008 and resigned 18 February 2009) 
P D Loney  (appointed 29 October 2008) 
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Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 42.   
 
Disclosure of information to auditors 
 
Each Director confirms that, as far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are 
unaware. Relevant information is defined as “information needed by the Company’s auditors in connection with preparing their 
report”. 
 
Each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken in his duty as a Director in order to make himself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. 
 
This confirmation is given, and should be interpreted in accordance with, the provisions of section 234ZA of the Companies Act 
1985. 
 
Employees 
 
The Lloyds Banking Group is committed to providing employment practices and policies which recognise the diversity of the 
workforce and ensure equality for employees regardless of sex, race, disability, age, sexual orientation or religious belief. 
 
In the UK, the Lloyds Banking Group belongs to the major employer groups campaigning for equality for the above groups of staff, 
including Employers’ Forum on Disability, Employers’ Forum on Age and Stonewall. The Lloyds Banking Group is also 
represented on the Board of Race for Opportunity and the Equal Opportunities Commission. Involvement with these organisations 
enables the Group to identify and implement best practice for staff. 
 
Employees are kept closely involved in major changes affecting them through such measures as team meetings, briefings, internal 
communications and opinion surveys. There are well established procedures, including regular meetings with recognised unions, to 
ensure that the views of employees are taken into account in reaching decisions. 
 
Schemes offering share options or the acquisition of shares are available for most staff, to encourage their financial involvement in 
the Lloyds Banking Group. 
 
Charitable and political contributions 
 
During the year, the Group made contributions totalling £113,579 (2007: £205,237) for charitable purposes. These donations were 
made to a variety of children’s and cancer charities. The Group made no political contributions (2007: £nil). 
 
Policy and practice on payment of creditors 
 
The Group follows “The Better Payment Practice Code” published by the Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory 
Reform (“BERR”), regarding the making of payments to suppliers. A copy of the code and information about it may be obtained 
from the BERR, No1 Victoria Street, London, SW1H 0ET. 
 
The Group’s policy is to agree terms of payment with suppliers and these normally provide for settlement within 30 days after the 
date of the invoice, except where other arrangements have been negotiated. It is the policy of the Group to abide by agreed terms of 
payment, provided the supplier performs according to the terms of contract. 
 
The processing of invoices from suppliers and settlement of trade creditors is undertaken by a separate company within the Lloyds 
Banking Group. As Scottish Widows plc owed no amounts to trade creditors at 31 December 2008 (2007: £nil), the number of days 
shown in this report, to comply with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, is nil (2007: nil). 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
C W Muir 
Edinburgh 
 
26 March 2009 
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBER OF SCOTTISH WIDOWS PLC 

 
We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) of Scottish Widows Plc for the 
year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, 
the Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity and the 
related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.  
 
Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors 
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out below. 
 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under that law the Directors have 
prepared the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. The financial 
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss 
of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements the Directors are required to: 
 

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
- state whether the financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and 
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will    
  continue in business. 

 
The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements. 
 
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Group and Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985 
and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The maintenance and integrity of the Scottish Widows plc website is the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by the 
auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that 
may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the website. 
 
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s 
member as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving this 
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also 
report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report is consistent with the financial statements.  
 
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and 
other transactions is not disclosed. 
 
We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. 
The other information comprises only the Directors’ Report.  We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any 
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other 
information. 
 
Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices 
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial 
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed. 
 
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to 
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the 
presentation of information in the financial statements. 
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Opinion 
In our opinion: 
 
 the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the 

state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended; 
 
 the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 

as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2008 and cashflows for the year then ended; 

 
 the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group 

financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and 
 
 the information given in the Directors' Report is consistent with the financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 
Edinburgh 
 
26 March 2009 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 
 

  2008 2007 
 Notes £ m £ m 

  Group Group 
Revenue    
Gross premiums written  4 5,158.4 5,107.6  
Premiums ceded to reinsurers  (131.3) (143.7) 
Premiums written net of reinsurance  5,027.1 4,963.9  
    
Fee and commission income 5 115.7 182.4  
Investment income 6 2,522.6 2,277.3  
Net realised (losses)/gains on assets at fair value though income  7 (864.5) 2,093.7  
Net fair value losses on assets at fair value through income 8 (8,974.5) (1,131.6) 
Other income 9 129.0 159.7  
Total revenue  (2,044.6) 8,545.4  
    
Expenses    
Claims and benefits paid  4,709.1 5,003.3  
Claims recoveries from reinsurers   (47.9) (115.7) 
  4,661.2 4,887.6  
    
Change in insurance contract liabilities  (1,193.2) 1,339.3  
Change in investment contract liabilities   (6,407.7) 387.9  
Change in reinsurers’ share of liabilities  72.3  (10.2) 
Change in unallocated surplus 31 (263.7) (41.5) 
  (7,792.3) 1,675.5  
    
Net profit attributable to external interests in mutual investment funds  12.0 260.1  
Operating expenses 10 1,194.1 1,147.1  
Expenses for asset management services received  55.7 99.7  
Finance costs 13 44.1 84.1  
  1,305.9 1,591.0  
    
Total expenses  (1,825.2) 8,154.1  
    
(Loss)/profit before tax  (219.4) 391.3  
    
Taxation credit 14 376.0 157.5  
    
Profit after tax for the year  156.6 548.8  
Profit after tax on discontinued operations 3 - 286.8  
Profit for the year  156.6 835.6  
    
Profit for the year attributable to :    
 - equity holder of the Company     156.2 825.3  
 - minority interest  0.4 10.3  
  156.6 835.6  
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BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2008 
 

  2008 2007 
 Notes £ m £ m £ m £ m 

  Group Company Group Company 
ASSETS       
     
Intangible assets including intangible insurance assets 18 1,179.9 482.3 1,227.6 490.5 
Deferred tax assets 21 375.4 643.4 222.9 431.5 
Investment in subsidiaries 22 - 1,562.4 - 1,527.3 
Property and equipment 16 113.0 21.3 119.4 21.9 
Investment properties 17 2,625.6 1,069.3 3,715.0 1,313.2 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 20 380.1 8,365.7 339.7 7,022.1 
Current tax receivable 21 104.0 60.7 71.2 - 
Investment in associates and joint ventures 23 1,687.1 492.7 2,004.4 2,911.5 
Financial assets:      

Reinsurers’ share of investment contract liabilities  - 17,307.4 -  21,809.5 
Derivative financial instruments 26 544.1 231.3 632.5 577.1 
Loans and receivables 25 1,751.6 1,472.3 1,302.4 1,014.6 
Investments at fair value through income 24 49,866.8 17,722.9 56,879.7 19,981.7 

Cash and cash equivalents 40 239.3 23.7 339.4 26.0 
Total assets  58,866.9 49,455.4 66,854.2 57,126.9 
   
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
  
Capital and reserves attributable to Group’s equity shareholder   
Share capital 27 648.9 648.9 648.9 648.9 
Other reserves 28 1,253.7 1,253.7 1,253.7 1,253.7 
Retained earnings  1,650.2 1,503.5 1,714.0 1,396.7 
  3,552.8 3,406.1 3,616.6 3,299.3 
Minority interest in equity 29 1.3 - 3.5 - 
Total equity  3,554.1 3,406.1 3,620.1 3,299.3 
      
Liabilities      
Insurance contract liabilities 30 21,523.1 19,458.5 22,680.6 20,494.4 
Unallocated surplus 31 289.2 289.2 552.9 552.9 
  21,812.3 19,747.7 23,233.5 21,047.3 
Future profits on non-participating business in the With Profit Fund  (50.7) (50.7) (22.7) (22.7) 
Retirement benefit obligations  36 51.2 - 58.3 - 
Deferred tax liabilities 21 469.6 307.5 647.6 366.4 
Current tax payables 21 10.7 - 129.9 102.6 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges  1.1 - 1.7 - 
Accruals and deferred income 37 163.8 1,048.6 174.2 851.0 
Financial liabilities:      

Subordinated debt 32 597.6 597.6 533.9 533.9 
Investment contract liabilities  34 25,821.9 23,786.1 33,081.8 30,308.6 
Derivative financial instruments 26 271.3 75.4 107.0 66.4 
Other liabilities 35 898.5 501.3 892.5 566.8 
External interests in mutual investment funds  5,215.9 - 4,321.8 - 
Borrowings  33 49.6 35.8 74.6 7.3 

Total liabilities  55,312.8 46,049.3 63,234.1 53,827.6 
      
Total liabilities and equity   58,866.9 49,455.4 66,854.2 57,126.9 
 
Approved by the Board on 26 March 2009 
 
 
 
A G Kane 
Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SCOTTISH WIDOWS PLC  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

10 

CASH FLOW STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 
 

  2008 2007 
 Notes £ m £ m £ m 

 
£ m 

  Group Company Group Company 

Cash flows from operating activities      
(Loss)/profit before tax  (219.4) 52.3 391.3 832.5 
Adjusted for:      

 Depreciation of property and equipment 16 9.8 0.6 10.9 0.7 
 Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 18 288.9 92.6 223.2 65.2 
 Finance costs  44.0 41.0 84.1 82.7 

Net decrease/(increase) in operating assets and liabilities 39 416.7 287.6 717.4 (124.7) 
Taxation (paid)/received  (106.5) (159.6) (116.9) 4.8 
Net cash flows from operating activities  433.5 314.5 1,310.0 861.2 

                              
Cash flows from investing activities      
Purchase of property and equipment 16 (3.4) - (5.6) - 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  - - 0.3 - 
Additions to intangible assets 18 (241.2) (84.3) (273.8) (117.0) 
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets  - - 3.2 - 
Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash and cash equivalents sold  - - 985.3 985.3 
Dividends received  - - - 214.4 
Net cash flows from investing activities  (244.6) (84.3) 709.4 1,082.7 
      
Cash flows from financing activities      
Dividends paid to shareholder 15 (220.0) (220.0) (1,860.0) (1,860.0) 
Finance costs paid  (44.0) (41.0) (84.1) (82.7) 
Net cash flows from financing activities  (264.0) (261.0) (1,944.1) (1,942.7) 
      
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (75.1) (30.8) 75.3 1.2 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  264.8 18.7 189.5 17.5 
Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 40 189.7 (12.1) 264.8 18.7 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SCOTTISH WIDOWS PLC  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

11 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 
 

Group  
Notes 

Share 
capital 

£ m 

Retained 
earnings 

£ m 

Other 
reserves  

£ m 

Minority 
interest 

£ m 

 
Total 
£ m 

       
Balance as at 1 January 2007  648.9 2,748.7 1,253.7 71.3 4,722.6 
Profit after tax for the year  - 835.6 - - 835.6 
Profit attribution to minority shareholders  - (10.3) - 10.3 - 
Dividends paid 15 - (1,860.0) - - (1,860.0) 
Other movements in minority interest  - - - (78.1) (78.1) 
Balance as at 31 December 2007  648.9 1,714.0 1,253.7 3.5 3,620.1 
Profit after tax for the year  - 156.6 - - 156.6 
Profit attribution to minority shareholders  - (0.4) - 0.4 - 
Dividends paid 15 - (220.0) - - (220.0) 
Other movements in minority interest  - - - (2.6) (2.6) 
Balance as at 31 December 2008  648.9 1,650.2 1,253.7 1.3 3,554.1 
 
 
 

Company  
Notes 

Share  
capital 

£ m 

Retained 
earnings 

£ m 

Other 
reserves  

£ m 

 
Total 
£ m 

      
Balance at 1 January 2007  648.9 2,269.4 1,253.7 4,172.0 
Profit after tax for the year  - 987.3 - 987.3 
Dividends paid  - (1,860.0) - (1,860.0) 
Balance as at 31 December 2007  648.9 1,396.7 1,253.7 3,299.3 
Profit after tax for the year  - 326.8 - 326.8 
Dividends paid  - (220.0) - (220.0) 
Balance as at 31 December 2008  648.9 1,503.5 1,253.7 3,406.1 
 
 
The total reserves attributable to equity holders at 31 December 2008 were £3,552.8m (2007: £3,616.6m). 
 
Not all of the above amounts can be distributed to equity holders since the Company is required to meet regulatory capital requirements. 
 



SCOTTISH WIDOWS PLC  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

12 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 
 
1 Accounting policies 

 
Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
The Group has identified the accounting policies that are most significant to its business operations and the understanding of 
its results.   
 
The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of estimates and assumptions. The accounting policies which 
relate to insurance provisions (policy u), intangible assets (policy o), the ascertainment of fair values of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (policy f) and the determination of impairment losses (policy q) are those which involve the most 
complex or subjective decisions or assessments. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, contingent or otherwise, at the balance sheet date, as well as affecting the reported income and expenses for the 
year. 
 
In each case, the determination of these is fundamental to the financial results and position of the Group and Company, and 
requires management to make complex judgments based on information and financial data that may change in future periods. 
Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current facts as at the balance sheet date, the actual 
outcome may differ from those estimates.   
 
The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 

 
(a) Basis of preparation 

 
The financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared: 
 
(1) in accordance with the International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) and International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the Standards and Interpretations (“SIC”) and 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations (“IFRIC”) issued by its International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee, as endorsed by the European Union;  

 
(2) in accordance with those parts of the Companies Act 1985 and Companies Act 2006 in force at 31 December 2008 

applicable to companies reporting under IFRS; and 
 

(3) under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment properties and certain financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through income, as set out below. 

 
The Directors are satisfied that the Group and Company have adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future.  Accordingly, the financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
In accordance with IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”, the balance sheet is presented in accordance with 
management’s estimated order of liquidity.   
 
The Group has taken advantage of the provisions of section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 and has not disclosed an income 
statement and related notes in respect of the Company. 
 
Standards and interpretations effective in 2008 
 
The following standards, amendments to and interpretations of published standards which have the potential to impact on the 
Group’s operations have been issued and are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008.  Their 
relevance to the Group’s operations is assessed below: 
 
 IFRIC 11 “IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Shares” (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007).  

This interpretation clarifies the application of IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” to certain share-based payment 
arrangements involving own equity instruments and arrangements involving equity instruments of a parent entity.  
Adoption of this interpretation has had no impact on the financial results or position of the Group or Company. 

 
 IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction” 

(effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008).  This interpretation provides guidance on 
assessing the amount of a pension surplus that can be recognised as an asset and explains how a minimum funding 
requirement might either affect the availability of reductions in future contributions or give rise to a liability.  The 
application of this interpretation has had no impact on the financial results or position of the Group or Company. 

 
Details of standards and interpretations in issue but which have not been adopted early are set out at note 48. 
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(b) Basis of consolidation 
 
The assets, liabilities and results of Group undertakings (including special purpose entities) are included in the financial 
statements on the basis of financial statements made up to the reporting date. Group undertakings include all entities over 
which the Group has the ability to control the financial and operating policies, which is generally where the Group has a 
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 
 
Group undertakings are fully consolidated from the date on which the ability to exercise control is transferred to the Group 
and cease to be consolidated from the date on which the ability to exercise control ceases.  Mutual investment funds are 
consolidated where the Group, partly through its long term funds, has a controlling interest, which is generally where the 
Group has a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  Amounts payable to external unit holders are reported 
within liabilities as external interests in mutual investment funds. 
 
Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies have been 
eliminated. 
 
All the financial statements included are uniformly prepared in conformity with IFRS and have adopted consistent 
accounting policies as at 31 December 2008.   
 
Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries (other than investments in mutual investment funds, which 
are presented as liabilities) are identified separately from the Group’s equity.  Minority interest consists of the amount of 
those interests at the date of the original business combination and the minority interest share of changes in equity since that 
date.  Losses applicable to the minority interest share in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the 
Group once all previous minority interest in previous positive changes in equity has been extinguished, except to the extent 
that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make additional investment to cover the losses. 
 

(c) Product classification 

 
The Group issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. 
 
Insurance contracts 
 
Insurance contracts are those contracts which transfer significant insurance risk.  Such contracts may also transfer financial 
risk. As a general guideline, the Group defines as significant insurance risk the possibility of having to pay benefits on the 
occurrence of an insured event which are significantly more than the benefits payable if the insured event were not to occur.  
Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the remainder of its lifetime, 
even if the insurance risk reduces significantly over time.   
 
Investment contracts 
 
Any long term contracts not considered to be insurance contracts under IFRS are classified as investment contracts. Such 
contracts are further analysed between those with and without a discretionary participation feature (“DPF”).  
 
A DPF is a contractual right that gives investors in contracts containing a DPF the right to receive, as a supplement to 
guaranteed benefits, additional benefits or bonuses that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits, 
through participation in the surplus arising from the assets held in the fund.  These supplemental discretionary returns are 
subject to the discretion of the Group.  The Group has the discretion within the constraints of the terms and conditions of the 
instrument to allocate part of the surplus to the policyholders and part to the Group’s shareholder.  Investment contracts with 
DPF are accounted for as insurance contracts in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”. 
 
Hybrid contracts 
 
For certain investment contracts, the contract can be partly invested in units which contain a DPF and partly without. As 
each contract contains a DPF, the contract in its entirety is classified as an investment contract with DPF. In addition, 
investment contracts which contain an option to switch into investment contracts with DPF have been classified as 
investment contracts with DPF where switching levels are deemed to be sufficient. 
 

(d) Investment in subsidiaries 
 
The Company owns a variety of subsidiaries. Certain subsidiaries trade with a view to making a profit, and the risks and 
rewards of owning those subsidiaries primarily rest with the shareholder of the Company. Those subsidiaries are held 
initially at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given, then subsequently at cost subject to impairment.  
 
In addition, certain subsidiaries are held primarily as vehicles through which specific investments are held as part of the 
actively managed investment portfolios. Those subsidiaries hold assets which are designated at fair value through income in 
accordance with IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” and primarily match policyholder liabilities. 
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Accordingly, subsidiaries which are managed as part of policyholder investment funds are carried at fair value and changes 
in their fair value are reflected in the income statement, within net gains and losses on assets at fair value through income. 
 

(e) Investment in associates and joint ventures 
 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. All associates are held within the long term 
funds of the Group and are held at fair value through income. Changes in the fair value of the investments are recognised in 
the income statement, within net gains and losses on assets at fair value through income, in accordance with IAS 39. 
Accordingly, the equity method requirements of IAS 28 “Investments in Associates” do not apply. The value of such 
investments has been separately disclosed within the financial statements. 
 
Joint ventures are entities where the Group has joint control with another party and these are accounted for in the same way 
as associates as these investments are also held within the long term funds of the Group at fair value through income.  
Accordingly, the measurement requirements of IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” do not apply. 
 

(f) Financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition and re-evaluates 
this at every reporting date.  Management’s policies for the recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities are set out 
in each section below. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cashflows from the financial assets have expired or where the 
Group has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.  Financial liabilities are derecognised only 
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
All financial assets and financial liabilities are designated at fair value through income, with the exception of certain loans 
and receivables and borrowings which are stated at amortised cost (as described below).   The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial assets and financial liabilities were acquired. Certain financial assets and financial liabilities, 
whose default accounting treatment would be to record these balances at amortised cost, are instead designated at fair value 
through income as they are held to match insurance and investment contract liabilities linked to the changes in fair value of 
these assets and liabilities, thereby reducing measurement inconsistencies, and the fact that these are managed and their 
performance evaluated on a fair value basis.  Information on these balances is provided internally on a fair value basis to the 
Group’s key management.  The Group’s investment strategy is to invest in equity and debt securities, investment property 
and cash and to evaluate the Group’s investments with reference to their fair values. 
 
The Group’s management, through a pricing and disclosure committee, review information on the fair value of the Group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities on a quarterly basis.  This review will result in adjustments to the target asset profile.  
The revised investment strategy is then communicated to each of the investment fund managers, whose performance will 
then be measured against a set of prescribed benchmarks. 
 
No assets are classified as held-to-maturity or available-for-sale.  Derivative assets (other than a derivative which is a 
designated and effective hedging instrument) are classified as held for trading.  With the exception of derivative liabilities, 
no liabilities are classified as held for trading.  Further information on derivatives is set out in the section “Derivative 
financial instruments” below. 
 
Transaction costs incidental to the acquisition of a financial asset are expensed through the income statement, within net 
gains and losses on assets at fair value through income. 
 
Investments at fair value through income 
 
Classification 
 
A financial asset is classified in this category at inception if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term, 
if it forms part of a portfolio of financial assets in which there is evidence of short-term profit-taking, or if designated as 
such. 
 
Recognition 
 
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date the Group commits to purchase the asset 
from, or deliver the asset to, the counterparty.  Investments are initially recognised at fair value through income, being the 
fair value of the consideration given, and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. 
  
Measurement 
 
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  If the market for a financial asset is not active, and 
also for unlisted securities, the Company establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These include the use of arm’s 
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length transactions and reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, generally making maximum use of 
market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.  The following paragraphs detail the valuation 
techniques specific to equity, Open Ended Investment Companies (“OEIC”s) and debt securities. 
 
For equity investments that are quoted and actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by 
reference to Stock Exchange quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.  Prices are provided 
by vendors such as Reuters or Bloomberg or by direct reference to the Stock Exchange. 

 
The fair value of holdings in OEICs and Unit Trusts is determined as the last published price applicable to the OEIC sub-
fund or the Unit Trust at the balance sheet date. 
 
For debt security investments, bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date are obtained from index providers 
who obtain prices from a number of leading brokers, investment banks and market makers.  Where no independent price is 
available, a valuation technique is used to determine fair value. The technique uses a spread over a comparable term gilt as 
the best estimate of fair value. Spreads are calculated by reference to the wider market movement in credit spreads, the way 
in which the security is structured, other assets issued by the issuer or other assets with similar characteristics. 
 
For corporate bonds, the Company’s management perform a comparison of information received from the index provider 
used against other available price sources on a monthly basis to ensure that prices can be supported by market data. 
 
In addition to the measurement policies, investment asset prices are reviewed weekly to identify those assets where the price 
has not moved for at least six days. This review provides an initial indication that the market for each identified asset may be 
inactive. These assets are then reviewed by management who may identify an alternative price source for assets which in 
their view are still actively traded. On conclusion that a particular asset is illiquid, management will identify an alternative 
valuation technique by deciding whether an appropriate price can be obtained from a recognised independent broker.  Where 
this is the case, the broker will be approved as a price source for the asset. A price will then be obtained from the broker on a 
monthly basis.  A review of all illiquid assets and prices obtained or calculated is conducted by an internal pricing committee 
on a monthly basis. 
 
For unquoted equity investments such as private equity, fair value is determined by reference to the most recent valuation 
provided by the General Partner, adjusted for any cash movements or other relevant information published by the General 
Partner since the last valuation point, which is likely to be up to one quarter prior to the balance sheet date. 

 
Unquoted debt securities 
 
In order to ensure that a fair value is recognised for unquoted or illiquid debt securities, the primary price source is an 
external broker valuation. If available, a further external broker valuation is sought as a secondary valuation source in order 
to validate the primary source. A formal review is then carried out which challenges the external valuation and includes 
consideration of the impact of any relevant movements in underlying variables such as: 
 

 underlying movements in the relevant markets, for example credit spreads; 
 how current transactions are being priced in the market; 
 how the security is structured; and 
 any supporting quantitative analysis as appropriate, for example with reference to Bloomberg or internal models. 

 
Property investments through special purpose vehicles 
 
Property related investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given, including all 
directly attributable transaction costs.  After initial recognition, such assets are accounted for and measured at fair value, 
which equates to the third party’s published net asset value.  This is based on open market valuations of the properties held 
by the special purpose vehicles, as provided at the balance sheet date by independent valuers and adjusted where this is 
required to ensure compliance with IFRS requirements. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market.   
 
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, subject to impairment, with the exception of accrued interest and rent receivable, which are 
accounted for at fair value, reflecting the amounts receivable at the year end.  In practice, the carrying value of these 
balances equates to the fair value due to the short-term nature of the amounts included within loans and receivables.  A 
charge for impairment in respect of loans and receivables would be made in the income statement when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to their original terms.  The impairment charge 
would be recognised in that part of the income statement in which the original transaction was reported.  Receivables arising 
from insurance contracts are also classified in this category and are reviewed for impairment as part of the impairment 
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review of loans and receivables.  Such amounts are reflected through the income statement, within gross premiums written 
and claims recoveries from reinsurers. 
Further information on the Group’s impairment policy is set out at policy (q). 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
Derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives, are held for trading, with the exception of derivatives 
which are designated and effective hedging instruments, which are held at fair value through income.  Derivatives held for 
trading are used for the purposes of efficient portfolio management or to match contractual liabilities. Derivatives are 
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at 
their fair value.   
 
The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price unless the fair value of that 
instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument. 
 
Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, including recent market transactions.  For over-the-
counter (“OTC”) derivatives, the value is derived from a hierarchy of valuation sources, as follows: 
 
 primary source – an independent valuation source 
 secondary source – generally, this would be the counterparty valuation 
 tertiary source – generally, this would be the fund manager valuation 

 
Data from a primary source will initially be used in valuing derivatives.  However, tolerance checks are also performed 
between valuations derived from different sources in order to validate the calculated valuations, detect any potential 
discrepancies and, if appropriate, select a secondary or tertiary price for use in the valuation instead.  If, as a result of this 
process, a value other than one obtained from a primary valuation source is used to value a derivative, this would be 
approved by the Derivatives and Counterparty Risk Committee. 
 
For exchange traded contracts, the value is based on the quoted bid price at close of business. 
 
Changes in the fair value are recognised in the income statement, through net fair value gains and losses on assets at fair 
value through income. 
  
In limited circumstances, derivatives are designated as fair value hedges. Derivatives may only be designated as hedges 
provided certain strict criteria are met. At the inception of a hedge, its terms must be clearly documented and there must be 
an expectation that the derivative will be highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged risk.  Changes 
in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement 
through net gains and losses on assets at fair value through income, together with the changes in the fair value of the hedged 
asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. 
 
The effectiveness of the hedging relationship must be tested throughout its life.  If, at a reporting date, it is concluded that the 
hedge is no longer highly effective in achieving its objective, the hedge relationship is terminated. Should this happen, 
changes in the fair value of the hedged item are no longer recognised in the income statement and the adjustment that has 
been made to the carrying amount of the hedged item is amortised to the income statement over the period to maturity of the 
hedged item. 
 
The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 26.   
 
All derivatives are presented as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 
Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being the issue proceeds net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
value is recognised in the income statement through finance costs over the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest rate applicable to the instrument.   
 
Financial liabilities at fair value 
 
External interests in mutual investment funds 
 
External interests in mutual investment funds which are accounted for by the Group as investments in subsidiaries as set out 
at policy (d) above are initially recognised, and subsequently stated, at fair value.  The fair value of holdings in these funds is 
determined at the valuation point applicable to the OEIC sub-fund or the Unit Trust at the balance sheet date as set out under 
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the “Investments at fair value through income” section set out above.  Changes in the fair value of this balance are 
recognised in the income statement, through net profit attributable to external interests in mutual investment funds. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
 
Other financial liabilities are stated at fair value, reflecting the short-term nature of these balances. 
 
Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet only when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
Net realised gains and losses on assets at fair value through income 
 
Realised gains and losses on assets are calculated as the difference between net sale proceeds and the original cost and are 
recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise, within net realised gains and losses on assets at fair 
value through income. 
 
Net fair value gains and losses on assets at fair value through income 
 
Unrealised gains and losses on assets are calculated as the difference between the current valuation of the asset at the balance 
sheet date and the original cost. Movements in unrealised gains and losses arising are recognised in the income statement in 
the period in which they arise, within net fair value gains and losses on assets at fair value through income. The movement in 
the unrealised gains and losses recognised in the year also includes the reversal of unrealised gains and losses recognised in 
earlier accounting periods in respect of asset disposals in the current period. 
 

(g) Investment properties  
 
Investment properties are initially measured at fair value, being the fair value of the consideration given, including directly 
attributable transaction costs.  Subsequently, on a monthly basis and at each balance sheet date, such properties are carried at 
fair value as assessed by qualified external appraisers. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for 
any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, alternative 
valuation methods such as discounted cash flow analysis or recent prices in less active markets are used.  Investment 
property being redeveloped for continuing use as investment property, or for which the market has become less active, 
continues to be measured at fair value. 
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are recognised in the income statement in the 
period in which they arise, within net gains and losses on assets at fair value through income. 
 
Rental income in respect of investment properties is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
 

(h) Investment income 
 
The treatment of investment income is set out under the accounting policies in respect of the assets from which the income 
arises. 
 

(i) Interest income and expense 
 
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised in the income statement as they 
accrue, within investment income and finance costs respectively.  
 

(j) Foreign currency translation 
 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in pounds sterling, which is the Group’s presentational and functional currency.  
 
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the balance 
sheet date. Revenue transactions and those relating to the acquisition and realisation of investments have been translated at 
rates of exchange ruling at the time of the respective transactions.  Any exchange differences are dealt with in that part of the 
income statement in which the underlying transaction is reported. 

 
(k) Cash and cash equivalents 
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Cash and cash equivalents includes cash at bank, short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less (excluding such investments as otherwise meet this definition but which are held for investment purposes 
rather than for the purposes of meeting short-term cash commitments) and bank overdrafts. 
 
 

 (l) Property and equipment 
 
All property (other than investment property) and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment in value. Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis to allocate the difference 
between the cost and the estimated residual value over the estimated useful lives of these assets.  The depreciation charge is 
recognised through the income statement, within other operating expenses. 
 
The periods generally applicable are: 
 
 Buildings 40 years 
 Fixtures and fittings 15 years 
 Furnishings 10 years 
 Computer equipment 3 years 
 Other equipment 5 years 
 
Land is considered to have an indefinite useful life and is therefore not depreciated. 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 
 
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. In the event that an asset’s carrying amount is determined to be greater than the recoverable amount, it is 
written down immediately.  The impairment charge would be recognised in the income statement, through operating 
expenses.   
 
Further information on the Group’s impairment policy is set out at policy (q). 
 

(m) Leases 
 
Assets leased to or from third parties, including properties leased to tenants, are classified as finance leases if the lease 
agreements transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee; all other leases are classified as 
operating leases. Operating lease rental income and expenditure are recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
leases through the income statement, within investment income and operating expenses respectively. 
 

(n) Reinsurance assets 
 
The Group cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business.  Reinsurance assets include balances due from both insurance 
and reinsurance companies for ceded insurance liabilities.  Premiums ceded and claims reimbursed are disclosed separately 
on the face of the income statement.  The benefits to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are 
recognised as reinsurance assets.  These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers, as well as longer term 
receivables that are dependent on the expected claims benefits arising under the related reinsured insurance contracts. 
 
Some of these reinsurance contracts do not meet the definition of a reinsurance contract under IFRS.  Where this is the case, 
the reinsurance assets have been recognised as a financial asset within other loans and receivables.  Amounts due from 
reinsurers are recognised at fair value as the amount recoverable relates wholly to insurance contracts which are recognised 
at fair value.     
 
The change in reinsurers’ share of liabilities on the face of the income statement represents the movement during the year in 
all amounts recoverable from reinsurers (including those recognised within other loans and receivables, since these amounts 
are recoverable from third parties under contracts of reinsurance). 
 
Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of investment contracts are recognised at fair value as the amount recoverable relates 
wholly to investment contract liabilities which are recognised at fair value.  These balances are subject to an annual 
impairment review.   
 
Further information on the Group’s impairment policy is set out at policy (q). 
 

(o) Intangible assets   
 
Acquired value of in-force business  
 
Investment contracts acquired in business combinations are measured at fair value at the time of acquisition.  This 
measurement includes the recognition of a present value of in-force (“PVIF”) asset which reflects the present value of future 
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cashflows expected from the business acquired. The asset is shown gross of attributable tax and a corresponding deferred tax 
liability has been established. Amortisation of the acquired PVIF balance and related tax is carried out on a best estimate 
basis over the estimated life of the contracts.  The amortisation charge for the year is recognised through the income 
statement, within operating expenses.  The carrying value of the PVIF balance is tested for impairment at each reporting 
date.   
 
Further information on the Group’s impairment policy is set out at policy (q). 
 
Deferred costs 
 
Deferred acquisition costs 
 
The costs of acquiring new insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (excluding those to which the provisions 
of Financial Reporting Standard (“FRS”) 27 “Life Assurance” apply), which are incurred during a financial period but which 
relate to subsequent financial periods, are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of future revenue margins.  The 
deferred acquisition cost asset is amortised over the lifetime of the related contracts based on the pattern of margins arising 
from these contracts. The amortisation charge for the year is recognised through the income statement, within operating 
expenses.  The carrying value of the asset is tested for impairment at each reporting date.   
 
Further information on the Group’s impairment policy is set out at policy (q). 
 
Deferred origination costs 
 
Costs which are directly incremental, vary with and are related to securing new investment contracts without DPF are 
capitalised as an intangible asset.  This asset is subsequently amortised over the estimated contractual lifetime of each policy 
on a straight-line basis. The amortisation charge for the year is recognised through the income statement, within operating 
expenses.  The carrying value of the asset is tested for impairment at each reporting date.   
 
Further information on the Group’s impairment policy is set out at policy (q). 
 
Software development costs 
 
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the cost incurred to acquire and to bring to use the 
specific software. These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the software, not 
exceeding a period of five years. 
 
Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, 
and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. 
Direct costs include the software development team’s employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. All 
other costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised through the income 
statement as an expense as incurred, within operating expenses. 
 
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their expected 
useful lives, not exceeding a period of five years.   
 
The amortisation charge for the year in respect of software licences and software development costs is recognised through 
the income statement, within operating expenses.  The carrying value of the assets is tested for impairment at each reporting 
date.   
 
Further information on the Group’s impairment policy is set out at policy (q). 
   

(p) Deferred income 
 
The Group receives investment management fees in the form of an initial adjustment, or charge, to the amount invested.  
These fees are in respect of services rendered in conjunction with the issue and management of investment contracts where 
the Group actively manages the consideration received from its customers to fund a return that is based on the investment 
profile that the customer selected on origination of the contract. These services comprise an indeterminate number of acts 
over the lives of the individual contracts and, therefore, the Group recognises these fees on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated lives of the contracts.  The income is recognised through the income statement, within fee and commission income. 

 
(q) Impairment  

 
Financial assets 
 
The carrying value of all financial assets is reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. The identification of impairment and the determination of recoverable amounts is 
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an inherently uncertain process involving various assumptions and factors, including the financial condition of the 
counterparty, expected future cash flows, observable fair prices and expected net selling prices.  
 
In order to determine whether financial assets are impaired, all financial assets for which the fair value has been significantly 
below cost price for a considerable period of time are individually reviewed. A distinction is made between negative 
revaluations due to general market fluctuations and due to issuer-specific developments. The impairment review focuses on 
issuer-specific developments regarding financial condition and future prospects, taking into account the intent and ability to 
hold the securities under the Group’s long term investment strategy. 
Non-financial assets 
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example land, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred, the amount of the loss is charged to the relevant line in 
the income statement in the period in which it occurs.   
 
Impairment process 
 
Objective evidence that an asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the 
Group and Company about the following events: 
 
(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; 
(ii) a breach of contract; 
(iii) the disappearance of an active market for that asset because of financial difficulties; or 
(iv) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cashflow from a group of 

assets since the initial recognition of those assets, even where the decrease cannot yet be identified with the 
individual assets of the Group or Company, including: 
- adverse changes in the payment status of issuers or debtors; or 
- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the Group or Company. 

 
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for assets that are individually 
significant.  If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed asset, 
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or 
continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.  
 
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics.  
Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cashflows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the 
issuer’s ability to pay all amounts due under the contractual terms of the debt instrument being evaluated. 
 

(r) Provisions for other liabilities and charges 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is 
probable that the obligation will result in an outflow of resources to settle the obligation and when reliable estimates of the 
amount of the obligation can be made.  If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability.   
 
The Group recognises provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to be derived from contracts are less than 
the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contracts.   
 
There were no provisions held in respect of bad debts at 31 December 2008 (2007: nil). 
 
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence depends on the outcome of uncertain future events or those 
present obligations where the outflows of resources are uncertain or cannot be measured reliably. 

 
(s) Taxes 
 

Tax on the profit or loss for the year is recognised in the income statement within taxation and comprises current and 
deferred tax.  
 
Current tax 
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Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date, together with adjustments to tax payable in respect of prior years. 
 
Deferred income tax 
 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the balance sheet date. However, if the 
deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination 
that, at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for.  The amount of 
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be 
utilised. 
 
Allocation of tax charge between shareholder and policyholders 
 
The income statement tax expense is analysed between policyholder and shareholder tax.  This allocation is based on an 
assessment of the rates of tax which will be applied to the returns under current UK tax rules.  
 

(t) Retirement benefit obligations  
 
The majority of the Group’s employees are members of the Scottish Widows Retirement Benefit Scheme (“SRBS”). A less 
significant number of employees are members of other pension schemes administered by the Lloyds Banking Group 
(“Lloyds Schemes”). All schemes are funded through payments to trustee-administered funds, determined by periodic 
actuarial calculations. 
 
Prior to the sale of Abbey Life in 2007, retirement benefit obligations in respect of members of the Abbey Life Staff Pension 
Scheme were also included in the consolidated financial statements.  As the sale of Abbey Life was completed before the end 
of 2007, no amounts in respect of this pension scheme are reflected in the comparative consolidated balance sheet at the 
reporting date. 
 
The Group contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution elements of the pension schemes in question. A 
defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, 
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined contribution plan is a 
pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions and where the Group has no legal or constructive obligation to 
pay further contributions. 
 
Scottish Widows Retirement Benefits Scheme 
 
A full actuarial valuation of this defined benefit scheme is carried out every three years. In the intervening years, the 
valuation is updated to 31 December each year by a qualified actuary, using the projected unit credit method adjusted for 
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses.  The actuary is an employee of the Company. 
 
The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit element of the pension scheme is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments 
for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs, all as adjusted to reflect the portion of the pension scheme 
transactions relating to employees of the Scottish Widows Investment Partnership Group Limited (“SWIP Group”) which are 
presented in the SWIP Group financial statements.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates equivalent to the market yields at the balance sheet date on 
high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to 
maturity that are approximate to the terms of the related pension liability. 
 
A surplus is only recognised to the extent that it is recoverable through a contractual right to make reduced contributions in 
the future or to receive a refund from the scheme.   
 
The Group’s income statement includes the current service cost of providing pension benefits, the expected return on the 
scheme’s assets and the interest cost on the scheme’s liabilities.  The current service cost is recognised within operating 
expenses and the expected return and interest cost are recognised within other income. 
 
The overall expected long term return on plan assets is a weighted average of the expected long term returns for equity 
securities, debt securities and other assets.  The components are found as follows:- 
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 The redemption yields at the measurement date on UK government and corporate fixed interest/index linked bonds are 

used as proxies for the return on the debt portfolio.   
 
 The long–term return on equities is difficult to predict with any certainty.  In current conditions a rate of 8.4% is adopted 

as an estimate. 
 
 The long–term return on real estate is also difficult to predict with any certainty.  A rate of 6.4% has been adopted. 
 The holding of cash is expected to return 3.8%, taking account of UK short-term interest rates. 

 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in the actuarial assumptions are not recognised 
unless the cumulative unrecognised gain or loss at the end of the previous reporting period exceeds the greater of 10 per cent 
of the scheme assets or liabilities (the “corridor approach”).  In these circumstances, the excess is charged or credited to 
income over the employees’ expected average remaining working lives. 
 
Past service costs are recognised immediately through income, within operating expenses, unless the changes to the pension 
plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the “vesting period”). In this case, 
the past service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.  
 
For the defined contribution element of the pension scheme, the Group pays fixed contributions. The Group has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised in the income statement as an 
employee benefit expense when they are due, within operating expenses.   
 
Scottish Widows plc share of Lloyds Banking Group defined benefit pension scheme deficit 
 
A small number of employees are members of certain Lloyds Banking Group pension schemes. Accordingly, defined benefit 
pension scheme accounting, as set out above, has been applied to reflect the Group’s share of those schemes’ deficits. 
 
Full actuarial valuations of these group-wide Schemes are carried out every three years, with interim reviews in the 
intervening years which are updated by qualified independent actuaries.  Scheme assets are included at their fair value.  
Scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, adjusted for unrecognised 
actuarial gains and losses, and are discounted using rates equivalent to the market yields at the balance sheet date on high-
quality corporate bonds that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.   
 
The Company’s share of the resulting net surplus or deficit, determined on the basis of the Company’s cash contributions 
into the Schemes for employee members (calculated in accordance with the rules of each Scheme) is included in the 
Company’s balance sheet.  The Company’s income statement includes the Company’s share of the current service cost of 
providing pension benefits, the expected return on the Schemes’ assets, net of expected administration costs, and the interest 
cost on the Schemes’ liabilities, which is again determined on the basis of the Company’s cash contributions into the 
Schemes for employee members.  These amounts are recognised in the same way as the respective amounts in relation to the 
SRBS.  The Company’s share of actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions is not recognised unless the cumulative unrecognised gain or loss at the end of the previous reporting period 
exceeds the greater of 10 per cent of each Scheme’s assets or liabilities.  In these circumstances, the excess is charged or 
credited to the income statement over the employees’ expected average remaining working lives.  Past service costs are 
charged immediately to the income statement, through operating costs, unless the changes are conditional on the employees 
remaining in service for a specified period of time.  In this case, the past service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the vesting period. 
  
Other schemes 
 
Contributions made by the Group to defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement as incurred, within 
operating expenses.  
 

(u)  Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF 
 
The majority of the life insurance contracts issued by the Group are long term life assurance contracts.  The Group also 
issues life insurance contracts to protect customers from the consequences of events (such as death, critical illness or 
disability) that would affect the ability of the customer or their dependants to maintain their current level of income.  
Guaranteed claims paid on occurrence of the specified insured event are either fixed or linked to the extent of the economic 
loss suffered by the policyholder.   
 
Revenue recognition - premiums 
 
Premiums received in respect of life insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF are recognised as revenue when 
they become payable by the policyholder and are shown before deduction of commission.  
 
Claims 
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Claims are recorded as an expense on the earlier of the maturity date or the date on which the claim is notified.  Premiums 
and claims are recognised through the relevant lines on the face of the income statement. 
 
Commission 
 
Commission paid in respect of the business written by the Group is recognised through the income statement, within 
operating expenses. 
Liabilities 
 
(i) Insurance contracts or participating investment contracts in the Group’s With Profits Fund 
 
Liabilities of the Group’s With Profits Fund, including guarantees and options embedded within products written by that 
fund, are accounted for under the “realistic” method.  However, in contrast to the approach used for the Financial Services 
Authority’s realistic capital regime, projected transfers out of the fund into other funds of the Company are not treated as 
liabilities, but are recorded in unallocated surplus. 
 
(ii) Insurance contracts or participating investment contracts which are not unit-linked or in the Group’s With Profits Fund 
 
The liability is calculated by estimating the future cash flows over the duration of in-force policies and discounting them 
back to the valuation date, allowing for probabilities of occurrence.  The liability will vary with movements in interest rates 
and with the cost of life assurance and annuity benefits where future mortality is uncertain.  Assumptions are made in respect 
of all material factors affecting future cash flows, including future interest rates, mortality and costs. 
 
(iii) Life insurance contracts or participating investment contracts which are unit-linked 
 
Allocated premiums in respect of unit-linked contracts that are either life insurance contracts or participating investment 
contracts are recognised as liabilities.  These liabilities are increased or reduced by the change in the unit prices and are 
reduced by policy administration fees, mortality and surrender charges and any withdrawals.  The mortality charges deducted 
in each period from the policyholders as a group are considered adequate to cover the expected total death benefit claims in 
excess of the contract account balances in each period and hence no additional liability is established for these claims.  
Revenue consists of fees deducted for mortality, policy administration and surrender charges.  Interest or changes in the unit 
prices credited to the account balances and excess benefit claims in excess of the account balances incurred in the period are 
charged as expenses in the income statement, through claims and benefits paid. 
 
Unallocated surplus 
 
Any amounts in the With Profits Fund not yet determined as being due to policyholders and projected transfers out of the 
fund to other funds of the Company are recognised as an unallocated surplus which is shown separately from the other 
liabilities. 

 
Bonuses 
 
Bonuses reflected in the income statement in a given year comprise: 
 
 Unit price increases and new reversionary bonuses declared in respect of that year which are provided within the 

calculation of insurance and investment contract liabilities; 
 Terminal and interim bonuses paid out to policyholders on maturity and included within claims paid. 
 
Receivables and payables 
 
Receivables and payables are recognised when due.  These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers and insurance 
contract holders.   
 

(v) Discontinued operations 
 
On 31 July 2007, the Group agreed to sell its investment in Abbey Life to Deutsche Bank AG for cash consideration of 
£977m.  The sale became unconditional on 26 September 2007 following the grant of the necessary regulatory approvals.  
Cash consideration of £972m, reflecting a contractually agreed early settlement discount, was received on 1 October 2007.  
Additional consideration of £13.3m was received on 3 December 2007 following payment of a contribution of £13.3m to the 
Abbey Life Staff Pension Scheme by Lloyds TSB Bank plc.   
 
In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, the 
aggregate of the trading profit of Abbey Life for the period from 1 January 2007 to 26 September 2007, along with the gain 
realised on disposal, has been separately disclosed on the face of the prior year income statement, within profit after tax on 
discontinued operations.   
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Further information in respect of the disposal is given in note 3. 
 

(w) Investment contracts without DPF 
 
The Group issues investment contracts without fixed terms (unit-linked).   In accordance with industry practice, these 
contracts are accounted for as financial liabilities, the values of which are contractually linked to the fair values of financial 
assets within the Group’s unitised investment funds.  The value of the unit-linked financial liabilities is determined using 
current unit prices multiplied by the number of units attributed to the policyholders at the balance sheet date. The value of 
the liabilities is never less than the amount payable on surrender, discounted for the required notice period where applicable. 
The best evidence of the fair value of these financial liabilities at initial recognition is the transaction price unless the fair 
value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable market transactions in the same instrument or 
based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets.  The Group has not recognised 
any profit on initial measurement of these investment contracts because the difference is attributed to the prepayment 
liability recognised for the future investment management services that the Group will render to each policyholder. 
 
The element of premiums and claims in respect of non-participating investment contracts which is invested on behalf of the 
policyholder is excluded from the income statement, with all movements in the policyholder liability and related assets being 
recorded in the balance sheet, within investment contract liabilities.  Changes in the value of the investment contract 
liabilities are recognised through the income statement, within change in investment contract liabilities. 
 

(x) Liability adequacy test 
 
At each balance sheet date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of the insurance and investment 
contract with DPF liabilities net of related deferred costs and acquired value of in-force business. In performing these tests, 
current best estimates of future contractual cash flows, claims handling and policy administration expenses, as well as 
investment income from assets backing such liabilities, are used. Any deficiency is immediately charged to the income 
statement, initially by writing off the relevant assets and subsequently by establishing a provision for losses arising from the 
liability adequacy tests. 
 

(y) Dividends 
 

Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved.  Dividends 
receivable in respect of listed shares are recognised on the date that these are quoted ex-dividend; other dividend income is 
recognised when received.  All dividends received are recognised through the income statement, within investment income. 
 

(z) Share-based payments 
 
Employees of the Group participate in a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans operated by Lloyds 
Banking Group plc. The value of the employee services received in exchange for equity instruments granted under these 
plans is recognised as an expense over the vesting period of the instruments. This expense to the Lloyds Banking Group plc, 
of which an element is recharged to the Group, is determined by reference to the fair value of the number of equity 
instruments that are expected to vest. The fair value of equity instruments granted is based on market prices, if available, at 
the date of grant. In the absence of market prices, the fair value of the instruments at the date of grant is estimated using an 
appropriate valuation technique, such as a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The determination of fair values excludes the 
impact of any non-market vesting conditions, which are included in the assumptions used to estimate the number of options 
that are expected to vest.  At each balance sheet date, this estimate is reassessed and if necessary revised. Any revision of the 
original estimate is recognised in the income statement over the remaining vesting period, within operating expenses. 

 
(aa) Business combinations 

 
On acquisition of a business, the consideration paid is based on valuation techniques consistent with those used for similar 
transactions. The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired equates to the book value, after review for impairment, for 
all items with the exception of the acquired VIF asset, which is identified as an intangible asset of the acquiree and not 
recognised in the accounting records of the acquiree.  
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net 
assets of the acquired entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognised as an asset at cost and is tested at least 
annually for impairment.  If an impairment loss is identified, the carrying value of the goodwill is written down immediately 
through the income statement and is not subsequently reversed. 

 
(ab) Share capital 
 

Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.  Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax. 
 

(ac) Collateral 
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The Group receives or pledges collateral in the form of cash or securities in respect of derivative transactions it undertakes.  
Collateral pledged continues to be recognised on the balance sheet.  Cash that has been received in the form of collateral is 
invested in a cash or cash equivalent investment vehicle which provides immediate liquidity.  Collateral received which is 
appropriately segregated from the assets of the Group is not recorded on the balance sheet.  Income from collateral is used to 
pay any interest obligations to the counterparty. 
 

 
 

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies 
 

The Group’s management makes estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities. Estimates 
and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

 
(a) Insurance contract and investment contract with DPF liabilities 
 
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from insurance contracts which are not unit-linked is the Group’s most critical 
accounting estimate.  

  
In accordance with FRS 27, the liabilities of the Group’s With Profits Fund are calculated using a stochastic simulation 
model which values liabilities on a basis consistent with tradable market option contracts (a “market-consistent” basis). The 
liabilities are sensitive to both investment market conditions and changes to a number of non-economic assumptions, such as 
the level of take-up of options inherent in the contracts, mortality rates and lapses prior to dates at which a guarantee would 
apply.  
 
For insurance contracts outside the With Profits Fund, the liabilities are calculated using a projection of future cash flows 
after making prudent assumptions about matters such as investment return, expenses, credit default and mortality. Discount 
rates used to value the liabilities are set with reference to the risk adjusted yields on the underlying assets. The most critical 
non-economic assumptions are mortality rates in respect of annuity business written and levels of future expenses. Such 
assumptions are based on recent actual experience, supplemented by industry information where appropriate. For investment 
contracts with DPF no critical accounting estimates apply as the contract liabilities arising outside of the With Profits Fund 
are almost entirely current unit values. 
 
At each reporting date, the estimates and assumptions referred to above are reassessed for adequacy and changes will be 
reflected in adjustments to the liability.  Further information on these balances is given in note 30.   

 
Sensitivities regarding changes to key assumptions in calculating insurance contract liabilities are given in note 38. 
 
(b) Intangible assets including intangible insurance assets 

 
(i) Acquired value of in-force business 
 
Following the acquisition of Scottish Widows Unit Trust Managers Limited (“SWUTM”) in 2006, the Group holds an asset 
representing the acquired VIF. The asset is calculated by projecting the future surpluses and other cash flows attributable to 
the Group arising from business written, excluding the value of future investment risk margins, discounted at an appropriate 
rate. The key assumptions used in estimating future surpluses relate to lapse rates and expenses. The assumptions are 
determined on a best-estimate basis and, as above, are based on recent actual experience and industry information where 
appropriate.  Amortisation of this balance and related tax is carried out on a best estimate basis over the estimated life of the 
contracts.  The amortisation charge for the year is recognised through the income statement, within operating expenses.  The 
carrying value of this asset is tested for impairment at each reporting date.  Further information on this asset is given in note 
18. 
 
(ii) Deferred costs 
 
For insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF (excluding those to which the provisions of FRS 27 apply), 
acquisition costs which are incurred during a financial period but which relate to subsequent financial periods are deferred to 
the extent that they are recoverable out of future revenue margins.  All other costs are recognised as expenses when incurred.  
The calculation of the deferred acquisition cost asset and its pattern of amortisation requires estimation of both the expected 
pattern of receipt of future revenue margins and the period that the business is expected to remain in force.  Further 
information on this asset is given in note 18. 
 
The recognition of costs and income in respect of investment contracts without DPF is governed by IAS 18 “Revenue”. 
Under this standard, directly incremental costs that vary with, and are related to securing new business, are capitalised as an 
intangible asset, and are then subsequently amortised over the period of the provision of the investment management 
services. Estimation is required of the period that the business is expected to remain in force and prudent assumptions are 
required for contracts which do not have a fixed maturity date. 
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(c) Accruals and deferred income 

 
For investment contracts without DPF, the recognition of income is governed by IAS 18. Income received for services to be 
provided in future periods is deferred and recognised in the income statement as the service is provided. As above, estimation 
is required of the period that the business is expected to remain in force and prudent assumptions are required for contracts 
which do not have a fixed maturity date.  Further information on this liability is given in note 37. 

 
(d) Retirement benefit obligations 
 
The majority of the Company’s employees are members of the Scottish Widows Retirement Benefit Scheme, although 
certain employees are members of Lloyds Banking Group Pension Schemes Nos 1 and 2 (“Lloyds Schemes”).  All schemes 
provide defined benefits to the members of those schemes.  
The risks associated with the Lloyds Schemes are shared among various entities under the common control of the Lloyds 
Banking Group. The appropriate share of the deficit associated with these schemes has been added to the retirement benefit 
obligations of Scottish Widows plc.  Further information on these liabilities is given in note 36. 
 
(e) Taxation 
 
At 31 December 2008, the Company had a current tax asset of £60.7m (2007: liability of £102.6) and a net deferred tax asset 
of £335.9m (2007: £65.1m).  During 2008, the Company’s net tax position has moved from a net liability of £37.5m to a net 
asset of £396.6m.  While the Company has taken account of tax issues that are subject to ongoing discussion with HM 
Revenue & Customs in recognising these assets, a significant feature is the management judgment applied in determining the 
timing,, forecasting and probability of them reversing. 
 
 

3.  Profit after tax on discontinued operations 
 

On 31 July 2007, the Company agreed to sell its investment in Abbey Life to Deutsche Bank AG for cash consideration of 
£977m.  The sale became unconditional on 26 September 2007 following the grant of regulatory approval by the FSA and 
the European Union.  Cash consideration of £972m, reflecting a contractually agreed early settlement discount, was received 
on 1 October 2007.  Additional consideration of £13.3m was received on 3 December 2007 following payment of a 
contribution of £13.3m to the Abbey Life Staff Pension Scheme by Lloyds TSB Bank plc.   
 
The operations of Abbey Life have been treated as discontinued operations in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5.  
A single amount is shown on the face of the income statement comprising the post-tax result of discontinued operations and 
the post-tax gain recognised on the remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell and on disposal of Abbey Life. 
 
The carrying value of Abbey Life, including the acquired value of the in-force business included in the Company’s balance 
sheet, at 26 September 2007 was £698.6m, resulting in a gain on disposal of £308.3m before tax.   
 
The table below provides further analysis of the amount shown on the face of the income statement in respect of the year 
ended 31 December 2007. 
 
  2007 
  £ m 

   
Total revenues and other income 795.4 
Total expenses 660.8 
Profit before tax 134.6 
  
Gain on remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell and on disposal 173.7 
  
Profit from Abbey Life operations 308.3 
  
Tax on profit for the period - 
Tax on profit before gain recognised on remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell and on disposal 21.5 
Tax on gain recognised on remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell and on disposal - 
Profit after tax on discontinued operations 286.8 
 
Included in the total expenses above is £9.1m relating to the amortisation of acquired value in-force during the year ended 31 
December 2007.  
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4. Segmental analysis 
 
In the opinion of the Directors, the Group operates in a single business segment, being the provision of long-term insurance 
and investment contracts, and therefore there are no specific disclosure requirements under IAS 14 “Segment Reporting”. 
The table below provides a summary of the gross premiums written within the single business segment:  
 
  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

     
Regular premiums  1,558.5 1,465.9 
Single premiums  3,599.9 3,641.7 
Total  5,158.4 5,107.6 

 
 
5. Fee and commission income 
 

  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

     
Investment contracts without DPF  0.4 0.2 
Fund management fees  128.9 156.3 
Change in deferred income  (13.6) 25.9 
Total  115.7 182.4 

 
 
6.  Investment income 
 

  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

     
Investments at fair value through income    

Interest income on investments  816.7 597.7 
Interest income on deposits  442.6 446.5 
Dividend income  1,058.3 993.7 

Rental income on investment properties  197.9 233.2 
Other  7.1 6.2 
Total  2,522.6 2,277.3 

 
  
7. Net realised (losses) / gains on assets at fair value through income 
 

  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

     
Derivative financial instruments at fair value through income  (284.4) 54.9 
Investments at fair value through income    
      Equity securities  (581.0) 2,270.5 
      Debt securities  24.3 (106.5) 
Investment properties at fair value through income  (54.6) (116.3) 
Foreign exchange  31.2 (8.9) 
Total  (864.5) 2,093.7 
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8. Net fair value losses on assets at fair value through income 
 

  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

     
Derivative financial instruments at fair value through income  (109.1) 56.0  
Investments at fair value through income    
      Equity securities  (7,806.5) (651.9) 
      Debt securities  (95.0) (329.6) 
Investment properties at fair value through income  (919.9) (204.3) 
Foreign exchange  (39.7) - 
Fair value hedge adjustment  (4.3) (1.8) 
Total  (8,974.5) (1,131.6) 

 
Included in the above fair value changes are the following amounts arising from the use of valuation techniques, where daily 
exchange traded prices are not available.  As described in note 1 (f), these valuation techniques include the use of internal 
models and prices obtained from brokers for debt securities and are subject to internal review procedures.  The derivatives 
include OTC derivatives and the valuation technique used is as described in note 1 (f). 
 
Equity securities – loss of £44.9m (2007: gain of £6.3m) 
Debt securities – gain of £296.9m (2007: gain of £97.6m)  
Derivatives – loss £276.1m (2007: loss of £99m) 
Private equity – loss of £94.3m (2007: gain of £1.3m) 
 
The fair value hedge adjustment in the above table reflects gains and losses arising in respect of subordinated debt issued by 
the Company which forms part of a hedge relationship.  A gain of £58.7m (2007: gain of £6.0m) arose in respect of the swap 
held, and a loss of £63.0m (2007: loss of £7.8m) arose in respect of the change in value of the hedged subordinated debt.  
Further information in respect of the subordinated debt is set out at note 32. 
 
 

9. Other income 
  

Included within the Group is a service company which incurs costs on behalf of several subsidiary undertakings of the 
Lloyds Banking Group which are not consolidated into these financial statements. The costs recharged to those entities are 
recorded as other income. 

 
 
10. Operating expenses  
 

  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

Acquisition and origination costs in respect of insurance and investment contracts  681.4  805.5 
Expenses for administration 463.4  392.1 
 1,144.8  1,197.6 
Change in deferred costs  (13.7)  (141.5) 
Amortisation and impairment of acquired VIF  63.0  53.0 
Goodwill amortisation -  38.0 
Total  1,194.1  1,147.1 

  
  
 Acquisition costs and expenses for administration can be analysed as follows: 

 
   2008  2007 

  £ m  £ m 

Staff costs and other employee related costs  238.0  239.8 
Commission payable  697.4  734.0 
Sales and marketing  21.6  23.1 
Computer costs  21.0  19.8 
Professional fees  15.7  15.1 
Outsourcing fees  13.3  31.1 
Auditors’ remuneration  3.6  3.6 
Depreciation  9.8  10.9 
Amortisation of software development costs  15.6  12.9 
Other expenses  108.8   107.3 
Total  1,144.8  1,197.6 
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11. Staff costs and other employee related costs 
 

  2008 
£ m 

 2007 
£ m 

Wages and salaries  193.6 195.8 
Social security costs  15.7 13.5 
Other pension costs-defined contribution plan  4.2 3.5 
Other pension costs-defined benefit plan   24.5 27.0 
Total  238.0  239.8 
 
The average number of employees directly employed by the Group, analysed into business functions, is as follows: 

 
  2008  2007 

Client service  1,527 1,267 
Marketing and sales  646 656 
Other support services  844 851 
Banking  322  326 
Total  3,339  3,100 

 
The costs of certain employees in the above table are recharged to companies outside the Group. 

 
 
12. Auditors’ remuneration 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company
    
Fees payable for the audit of the statutory accounts for the Company 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.6 
Fees payable for the audit of Lloyds Banking Group reporting returns for the 
Company 

 
0.9 

 
0.9 

 
0.9 

 
0.9 

Fees payable for other services:     
        Audit of Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation  0.6 - 0.4 - 
        Other services provided pursuant to legislation 0.3 0.1 0.3 0.2 
Total audit fees 2.5 1.7 2.2 1.7 
     
Other services audit related 0.8 0.1 0.5 0.2 

     
Total audit and audit related fees 3.3 1.8 2.7 1.9 

     
Services relating to taxation 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.4 
Other services 0.1 0.1 0.5 0.5 
Total non audit fees 0.3 0.3 0.9 0.9 
     
Total 3.6 2.1 3.6 2.8 

 
  During the year, the Group incurred audit fees in respect of its pension schemes of £19,300 (2007: £18,917). 

 
 

13.  Finance costs 
 

  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

Interest paid on borrowings  15.4 55.4 
Interest paid on subordinated debt  28.7  28.7 
Total  44.1  84.1 
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14.  Taxation 
 
(a)   Current year tax (credit) / charge 
 

  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

Current tax:     
UK corporation tax  (73.7) 35.2 
Overseas tax  35.0 26.5 
Adjustment in respect of prior years  (6.8) 83.8 
Total current tax  (45.5) 145.5 
    
Deferred tax:    
Origination / (reversal)  of temporary differences  (282.5) (177.4) 
Adjustment in respect of prior years  (48.0) (125.6) 
Total deferred tax  (330.5) (303.0) 
    
Total income tax (credit) / charge  (376.0) (157.5) 
 
The policyholder tax benefit or expense is included in income tax expense.  Policyholder tax is a credit of £347.8m (2007: 
credit of £210.0m), including a prior year tax charge of £10.6m (2007: credit of £61.6m). 
 
(b) Reconciliation of tax (credit) / charge 

 
  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

(Loss) / profit before tax  (219.4)  391.3 
Tax at 28.5% (2007: 30%)  (62.5)  117.4 
Effects of:    
Permanent differences arising from overseas operations (0.3)  (0.3) 
Income tax at other than standard rate  (15.9)  (31.8) 
Tax exempt gain on disposal  -  (32.0) 
Disallowable expenses  (0.6)  0.1 
Policyholder tax  (248.7)  (147.0) 
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior years  (54.8)  (41.8) 
Overseas tax  4.8  3.3 
Change in tax rate  (0.7)  (50.3) 
Amortisation of goodwill  -  11.4 
Other  2.5  13.5 
Total   (376.0)  (157.5) 

 
The Finance Act 2007 reduced the rate of corporation tax from 30% to 28% with effect from 1 April 2008.  The impact of 
this reduction in tax rate, which results in a weighted average rate of 28.5% being applied to the profit for the year, is 
reflected in the above table.  The 2007 figures include the impact of this change in tax rate on the deferred tax position at 31 
December 2007 as the change in rate was substantively enacted at that date. 

 
 
15.   Dividends paid  
 

  2008  2007 
  £ m  £ m 

     
Total dividends paid on equity shares   220.0  1,860.0 

 
The dividend paid in 2008 amounted to 33.90 pence per share (2007: 286.64 pence per share).   

 
The ordinary dividend in respect of 2007 which was paid in 2008 comprises the proposed dividend of £220m as set out in the 
2007 Directors’ Report. 
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16. Property and equipment 
 

 Group  Company 
Land and 
buildings 

 
Equipment

 
Total 

 Land and 
buildings 

 

£ m £ m £ m  £ m 

Cost   
At 1 January 2008 119.4 38.0 157.4  27.3 
Additions - 3.4 3.4  - 
At 31 December 2008 119.4 41.4 160.8  27.3 
  
Accumulated depreciation  
At 1 January 2008  20.2 17.8 38.0  5.4 
Depreciation charge for the year  2.8 7.0 9.8  0.6 
At 31 December 2008 23.0 24.8 47.8  6.0 
      
Carrying amount      
At 31 December 2007 99.2 20.2 119.4  21.9 
      
At 31 December 2008 96.4 16.6 113.0  21.3 

 
Depreciation expense of £9.8m (2007: restated £10.9m) has been charged within the Group’s operating expenses for 
administration. 
 
Land is included in the above table at cost of £3,152,000 (2007: £3,152,000). The fair value of land held by the Group at 31 
December 2008 was £19,664,000 (2007: £21,526,000).  The valuation was undertaken by Mr C Miles, FRICS, an employee of 
Scottish Widows.   
 
 

17. Investment properties  
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
     
At 1 January 3,715.0 1,313.2 4,737.1 1,360.1 
Additions – new properties 66.2 2.7 294.2 85.5 
Additions – subsequent expenditure on existing properties 119.6 78.5 175.8 37.2 
Disposals (364.0) - (1,184.6) (21.0) 
Foreign exchange valuation difference 63.2 - 5.1 - 
Net loss from change in fair values (974.4) (325.1) (312.6) (148.6) 
At 31 December 2,625.6 1,069.3 3,715.0 1,313.2 

 
The rental income arising from investment properties during the year amounted to £197.9m (2007: £233.2m), which is 
included in investment income.  Direct operating expenses (included within operating expenses) arising in respect of such 
properties during the year amounted to £19.6m (2007: £18.9m). 
 
Expenditure on properties which did not generate rental income was £86.9m (2007: £25.6m) 
 
The carrying value of properties under development is £166.0m (2007: £216.5m). 
 
Loans of EUR 83.0m (2007: EUR 58.0) are secured on certain investment properties held by the Group. 
 
The properties are independently valued by Drivers Jonas, Jones Lang LaSalle, CBRE and Cushman & Wakefield on at least 
a quarterly basis for the purpose of determining the open market value of the properties. 
 
The carrying value of land held for development purposes that has not yet been developed is £3.5m (2007: £0.75m). 
 
All investment property assets are leased under operating leases. 
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18. Intangible assets including intangible insurance assets  
 

  2008 2007 
  £ m £ m £ m £ m 

  Group Company Group Company 
      
Acquired VIF (a) 255.0 - 318.0 - 
Deferred acquisition costs (b) 516.7 195.4 464.0 166.5 
Deferred origination costs (c) 362.2 286.9 401.2 324.0 
Software development costs (d) 46.0 - 44.4 - 
Total  1,179.9 482.3 1,227.6 490.5 

 
 (a) Acquired VIF 

  
£ m 

 Group 
Cost   
At 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2008 371.0 
 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 
At 1 January 2008 53.0 
Amortisation during the year 53.0 
Impairment charge 10.0 
At 31 December 2008 116.0 
 
Carrying amount 
At 31 December 2007 318.0 
  
At 31 December 2008 255.0 
 
The VIF set out in the above table arose on the acquisition by Scottish Widows of Scottish Widows Unit Trust Managers 
Limited (“SWUTM”) during the year ended 31 December 2006 and reflects the present value at that time of future cash 
flows expected from the business acquired. 
 
Following completion of the annual impairment review in respect of this asset, an impairment charge of £10m has been 
recognised.  This is due to poor market performance over 2008, which has seen the value of future profitable cashflows 
reduce as fund values have fallen. The year end valuation represents management’s best estimate of the value in use of this 
asset.   The end 2008 discount rate used to value these future cashflows is 3.74%. The impairment charge has been 
recognised in the income statement, within operating expenses. 
 

 (b) Deferred acquisition costs  
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
     
At 1 January  464.0 166.5 353.0 136.8 
Amounts incurred during the period 186.9 71.7 172.4 56.8 
Amortisation during the period (134.2) (42.8) (61.4) (27.1) 
At 31 December  516.7 195.4 464.0 166.5 

 
(c) Deferred origination costs 
  
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
     
At 1 January  401.2 324.0 530.9 301.9 
Amounts incurred during the period 37.1 12.6 96.5 60.2 
Amortisation during the period (76.1) (49.7) (72.1) (38.1) 
Amounts disposed of during the period in respect of Abbey Life - -  (154.1) - 
At 31 December  362.2 286.9 401.2 324.0 
 
Disposals relate to the sale of Abbey Life during the year ended 31 December 2007, as set out in note 3. 
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(d) Software development costs 
 

2008 2007  
£ m £ m 

 Group Group 
Cost 
At 1 January  101.1 87.9 
Additions 17.2 13.2 
At 31 December  118.3 101.1 
 
Accumulated amortisation 
At 1 January  56.7 40.6 
Amortisation charge for the year  15.6 12.9 
Impairment charge recognised in the year - 3.2 
At 31 December  72.3 56.7 
 
Carrying amount 
At 31 December  46.0 44.4 

 
 
19. Goodwill 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

 Group Group 
Cost    
At 1 January 2008 - 38.0 
Additions - - 
At 31 December 2008 - 38.0 
   
Accumulated amortisation and impairment   
At 1 January 2008 - - 
Amortisation charge for the year - (38.0) 
At 31 December 2008 - (38.0) 
   
Carrying amount   
At 31 December 2008 - - 

 
Goodwill arose on the acquisition by the Scottish Widows plc of Scottish Widows Unit Trust Managers Limited 
(“SWUTM”) during the year ended 31 December 2006.  The goodwill related to one year’s future profits of SWUTM and 
was therefore fully amortised during the year ended 31 December 2007. 
 

 
20. Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities  
 

An analysis of the change in the reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities is as follows: 
 
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
     
At 1 January 339.7 7,022.1 422.6 5,189.6 
New business 31.6 2,382.1 17.8 1,997.3 
Changes in existing business 8.8 (1,038.5) (13.1) (164.8) 
Amounts disposed of during the period - - (87.6) - 
At 31 December 380.1 8,365.7 339.7 7,022.1 
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21. Tax assets and liabilities 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Current tax receivables 104.0 60.7 71.2 - 
Deferred tax assets 375.4 643.4 222.9 431.5 
Total tax assets 479.4 704.1 294.1 431.5 
     
Current tax payables 10.7 - 129.9 102.6 
Deferred tax liabilities  469.6 307.5 647.6 366.4 
Total tax liabilities 480.3 307.5 777.5 469.0 

 
 
 (a)  Recognised deferred tax  
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The amounts are as 
follows:  
 
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Deferred tax assets comprise:     
Pension losses 167.6 167.6 179.0 179.0 
Tax on deferred income 20.5 306.7 21.4 252.5 
Expenses deductible in future periods 172.9 169.1 2.2 - 
Pension and other post retirement benefit obligations 14.3 - 19.7 - 
Other 0.1 - 0.6 - 
Total deferred tax assets 375.4 643.4 222.9 431.5 
     
Deferred tax liabilities comprise:     
Unrealised gains on investment assets 2.6 - 156.0 59.0 
Deferred costs  225.9 135.1 222.8 137.3 
Other insurance related items 162.6 172.4 170.8 170.1 
Accelerated capital allowances 7.0 - 8.9 - 
Deferred tax on acquired VIF 71.4 - 89.0 - 
Other 0.1 - 0.1 - 
Total deferred tax liabilities 469.6 307.5 647.6 366.4 
     
Net deferred tax liabilities (94.2) 335.9 (424.7) 65.1 

  
The deferred tax balances include an asset of £167.6m (2007: £179.0m) in respect of tax losses incurred by the Group in 
respect of its pension business.  Cashflow projections undertaken indicate that there will be scope to offset these losses 
against future taxable profits arising on existing pension contracts.  Also included in the deferred tax balance is an asset of 
£172.9m (2007: £2.2m) in respect of expenses incurred by the Group that will be deductible in future periods.  Projections 
indicate that these expenses will be offset against future income and gains. 

 
The tax (credit)/charge in the income statement relating to each of the above items is as follows: 

2008 2007  
£m £m 

 Group Group 
   

Pension losses 11.4 (105.3) 
Tax on deferred income 0.9 7.1 
Expenses deductible in future periods (170.7) 1.8 
Pensions and post-retirement benefit obligations 5.4 (0.1) 
Other deferred tax assets 0.5 3.7 
Unrealised gains on investment assets (153.4) (179.6) 
Deferred acquisition costs 3.1 22.6 
Other insurance items (8.2) (29.8) 
Accelerated capital allowances (1.9) (1.3) 
Acquired value in force (17.6) (22.1) 
Total deferred tax (credit)/charge (330.5) (303.0) 
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(b)  Unrecognised deferred tax 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards only to the extent that realisation of the related tax 
benefit is probable. 
 
The Company has a significant With Profits pension business. The business is subject to UK corporation tax on the basis of a 
notional return determined by UK taxation authorities. To the extent that the actual return from the business is less than the 
notional return, tax losses accumulate which may be carried forward and offset against excess returns in future years. The 
maximum potential value of these losses at 31 December 2008 was £602m (2007: £698.5m). No asset has been recognised in 
respect of these losses as it is unlikely that there will be excess returns in future years against which they can be offset. 
 
At the end of 2008 the Group has claimed a capital tax loss of £943.5m (2007: nil) in respect of which no asset has been 
recognised. 
 
Shareholder assets within the Company’s long-term business fund will, under current legislation, be subject to a tax charge in 
the event of their future transfer to the shareholder fund. However, IAS 12 “Income Taxes” allows tax to be provided at an 
incremental rate of 0% on such assets. The contingent tax liability, being the difference between the tax provided in the 
balance sheet and the tax potentially payable if all assets were transferred, is approximately £90m (2007: £90m). 
 
 

22. Investment in subsidiaries 
 
 

 Company 
 £m 

  
At 1 January 2008 1,527.3 
Additions 322.0 
Revaluations (304.7) 
Movements in holdings in OEICs 17.8 
At 31 December 2008 1,562.4 

 

 

The following are particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries: 
 

Name 

Class of 
Share or 

Stock 
Percentage 

held 

Country of 
Registration 

or 
Incorporation 

Nature of 
Business 

Scottish Widows Annuities Limited Ordinary 100 Scotland Life Insurance 

Pensions Management (S.W.F.) Limited* Debenture 100 Scotland Life Insurance 

Scottish Widows Unit Funds Limited Ordinary & 
Deferred 

100 Scotland Life Insurance 

Scottish Widows Services Limited Ordinary 100 Scotland Management 
Services 

Scottish Widows Unit Trust Managers Limited Ordinary 100 England OEIC 
Management 

 
Note: * limited by guarantee 
 
During the year, the Company invested an additional £216m in Scottish Widows Annuities Limited in exchange for additional 
share capital with a par value of £216m.  No share premium was paid in respect of this investment.  The Company also invested 
an additional £106m in Scottish Widows Unit Funds Limited in exchange for additional share capital with a par value of £12.7m.  
The additional consideration of £93.3m represents a payment in respect of share premium. 
 
The Company also invests in a number of OEICs which have been classified as investments in subsidiaries as described in the 
accounting policies. 
 
The above subsidiaries operate in the United Kingdom and have been included within the consolidated financial statements, 
along with controlled mutual investment funds and other entities held as part of the actively managed investment portfolios. 
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The ability of regulated entities to pay cash dividends to the Company or repay loans or advances is restricted by regulatory 
solvency requirements.  The ability of non-regulated entities to pay cash dividends to the Company or repay loans or 
advances is restricted by Companies Act distributable reserves requirements. 

 
 

23. Investment in associates and joint ventures 
 

The following tables present disclosures required under IAS 28 “Investments in Associates” and IAS 31 “Interests in Joint 
Ventures”. 

 
 Associates 
  

 2008 
Group  

 
Assets 

£m 

 
 

Liabilities
£m 

 
 

Revenues 
£m 

 
 
Profit / 
(loss) 

£ 

Average 
interest 

held 
% 

      
Investments in OEICs 5,478.1 84.0 (660.7) (710.4) 30.0% 
Airport Industrial Unit Trust 421.1 225.0 26.9 (134.1) 23.5% 
Smaller Companies Value Trust 23.1 0.6 (21.1) (21.9) 29.1% 

 
 2007 
Group  

 
Assets 

£m 

 
 

Liabilities
£m 

 
 

Revenues 
£m 

 
 
Profit / 
(loss) 

£ 

Average 
interest 

held 
% 

      
Investments in OEICs 5,792.8 143.6 175.6 130.4 34.9% 
Airport Industrial Unit Trust 352.8 6.3 3.1 (3.0) 24.3% 

 
 

 2008 
Company 
 

 
 

Assets 
£m 

 
 

Liabilities
£m 

 
 

Revenues 
£m 

 
 
Profit / 
(loss) 

£ 

Average 
interest 

held 
% 

      
Investments in OEICs 1,271.4 0.5 18.4 16.4 27.7% 
Airport Industrial Unit Trust 421.1 225.0 26.9 (134.1) 23.5% 
European Balanced Property Fund 263.4 91.6 (22.7) (24.9) 38.0% 
Smaller Companies Value Trust 23.1 0.6 (21.1) (21.9) 29.1% 

 
 2007 
Company  

 
Assets 

£m 

 
 

Liabilities
£m 

 
 

Revenues 
£m 

 
 
Profit / 
(loss) 

£ 

Average 
interest 

held 
% 

      
Investments in OEICs 10,025.3 99.1 600.6 571.9 27.2% 
Airport Industrial Unit Trust 352.8 6.3 3.1 (3.0) 24.3% 

 
Airport Industrial Unit Trust is incorporated in Jersey. 
 
The associates listed above had no capital commitments, contractual obligations or contingent liabilities at 31 December 2008 
(2007: none). 
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 Joint ventures 
 

 2008 
Group  

 
Assets 

£m 

 
 

Liabilities
£m 

 
 

Revenues 
£m 

 
 

Profit 
£ 

Average 
interest 

held 
% 

      
The Great Wigmore Partnership 122.3 3.9 3.8 2.6 50.0% 
Barbirolli Square Limited Partnership 50.8 1.9 3.5 (12.9) 50.0% 

 
 2007 
Group  

 
Assets 

£m 

 
 

Liabilities
£m 

 
 

Revenues 
£m 

 
 

Profit 
£ 

Average 
interest 

held 
% 

      
The Great Wigmore Partnership 171.7 2.9 4.6 17.9 50.0% 
Barbirolli Square Limited Partnership 67.2 1.9 3.4 (5.4) 58.3% 

 
 

 2008 
Company 
 

 
 

Assets 
£m 

 
 

Liabilities
£m 

 
 

Revenues 
£m 

 
 

Profit 
£ 

Average 
interest 

held 
% 

      
The Great Wigmore Partnership 122.3 3.9 3.8 2.6 50.0% 

 
 2007 
Company  

 
Assets 

£m 

 
 

Liabilities
£m 

 
 

Revenues 
£m 

 
 

Profit 
£ 

Average 
interest 

held 
% 

      
The Great Wigmore Partnership 171.7 2.9 4.6 17.9 50.0% 

 
Although the assets and liabilities set out in the above tables in respect of associates and joint ventures are considered to be 
current for the purposes of IAS 1, it is not expected that all amounts will be settled within the next twelve months. 
 
The Great Wigmore Partnership is registered in the United Kingdom, in accordance with the Limited Partnerships Act 1907.  
The principal activity of the Partnership is investment in, and development of, freehold and leasehold property in the United 
Kingdom.  The Partnership had no capital commitments, contractual obligations or contingent liabilities at 31 December 2008 
(2007: none). 
 
Barbirolli Square Limited Partnership is registered in Scotland as a limited partnership under the Limited Partnerships Act 
1907.  The principal activity of the Partnership is that of property investment which the General Partner considers offers 
potential to deliver attractive returns within an acceptable risk profile. The Partnership had no capital commitments, 
contractual obligations or contingent liabilities at 31 December 2008 (2007: none). 
 

 There are no restrictions on the ability of any of the associates or joint ventures to distribute funds to investors. 
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24. Investments at fair value through income 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
At fair value:     
Shares and other variable yield securities:    
  Listed 18,056.0 7,899.5 22,190.3 9,627.8 
  Unlisted 7,935.1 301.5 12,822.5 1,533.0 
 25,991.1 8,201.0 35,012.8 11,160.8 
 
Debt and other fixed/variable income securities 18,344.3 8,791.9 16,603.7 7,974.0 
     
Deposits with credit institutions 5,369.0 21.0 5,101.2 3.0 
Other investments 162.4 709.0 162.0 843.9 
     
Total investments at fair value 49,866.8 17,722.9 56,879.7 19,981.7 
     
At cost:     
Shares and other variable yield securities:     
  Listed 20,467.0 8,869.6 20,715.8 7,921.2 
  Unlisted 9,504.7 289.7 10,520.2 1,214.6 
 29,971.7 9,159.3 31,236.0 9,135.8 
 
Debt and other fixed/variable income securities 18,528.1 8,558.7 16,610.9 8,013.9 
     
Deposits with credit institutions 5,369.0 21.0 5,127.1 28.9 
Other investments 163.3 709.8 165.8 847.9 
     
Total investments at cost 54,032.1 18,448.8 53,139.8 18,026.5 

 
 Of the total debt securities above, £7,305.9m (2007: £4,817m) are listed government bonds. 
 

The value of investments at fair value through income estimated using a fair value technique rather than quoted on an active 
market is £3,540.6m for Group and £3,091.6m for Company (2007: Group £3,921.3m Company £3,790.6m).  

 
 
25. Loans and receivables 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
     
Insurance business:     

Amounts receivable in respect of direct insurance business 29.7 29.1 13.3 11.8 
Amounts receivable under reinsurance contracts 12.1 12.1 12.4 12.4 

           
Other loans and receivables:     

Prepayments 181.8 28.6 157.3 23.2 
Accrued interest and rent 250.7 255.5 275.4 258.1 
Amounts due from related parties 182.1 411.4 146.0 272.0 
Others 1,095.2 735.6 698.0 437.1 

     
Total 1,751.6 1,472.3 1,302.4 1,014.6 

  
Amounts due from reinsurers represent reinsurance receivables where the Company has the right to cover losses on contracts 
provided to policyholders.   

 
Loans and receivables with variable interest rates and fixed interest rates are nil (2007: nil).   
 
The fair value of the above balances is not materially different to the carrying value at 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007 
due to the short-term nature of these balances.  
 
There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to loans and receivables.  Further information in respect of 
credit risk is given in note 41. 
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26. Derivative financial instruments 
  

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into swap contracts, option contracts, index futures contracts and 
forward foreign exchange contracts.  All such contracts are undertaken either for efficient portfolio management purposes 
or for the purpose of matching contractual liabilities. In addition, the Company has entered into a swap for the specific 
purpose of hedging movements in the fair value of the subordinated debt described in note 32.  

 
Swap contracts include interest and inflation rate swaps.  An interest or inflation rate swap is an agreement between two 
parties to exchange fixed and variable rate interest payments, based upon interest rates defined in the contract, without the 
exchange of the underlying principal amount.   

 
Option contracts include index and single equity options.  Such options represent a contract sold by one party to another 
party offering the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell a financial asset at an agreed price on a specified future date or 
within a specified period of time. 

 
Index futures contracts are used to hedge the investment portfolio against adverse movements in underlying markets or 
effecting policy switches between markets without the need to trade the underlying securities.  Futures may also be used for 
the purposes of efficient portfolio management provided that their substance would otherwise be permitted as a series of 
direct transactions. 

 
Forward foreign exchange contracts are an agreement to buy or sell a specified amount of foreign currency on a specified 
future date at an agreed rate. 
 
Details regarding derivative financial instruments are given in the following tables: 

 
Group 2008 2007 

 Contract 
Amount 

Fair value 
asset 

Fair value 
liabilities 

Contract 
Amount 

Fair value 
asset 

Fair value 
liabilities 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

       
Derivative financial instruments held 
for trading: 

      

Swap contracts 2,006.2 165.2 101.8 241.1 20.0 14.5 
Option contracts 1,851.8 92.4 1.5 2,614.4 577.8 7.1 
Index futures contracts 627.8 65.9 13.6 407.9 14.3 20.1 
Forward foreign exchange 
contracts 2,976.2 189.7 154.4 2,679.6 20.4 36.5 

Derivative financial instruments 
designated as fair value hedges 560.0 30.9 - 560.0 - 28.8 
Total  8,022.0 544.1 271.3 6,503.0 632.5 107.0 

 
 

Company 2008 2007 
 Contract 

Amount 
Fair value 

asset 
Fair value 
liabilities 

Contract 
Amount 

Fair value 
asset 

Fair value 
liabilities 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

       
Derivative financial instruments held 
for trading:    

   

Swap contracts 1,009.6 64.8 38.5 181.8 3.0 14.4 
Option contracts 1,851.8 90.0 0.6 2,614.4 560.7 0.3 
Index futures contracts 554.4 43.9 11.4 280.8 3.2 5.4 
Forward foreign exchange 
contracts 364.6 1.7 24.9 1,094.0 10.2 17.5 

Derivative financial instruments 
designated as fair value hedges 560.0 30.9 - 560.0 - 28.8 
Total  4,340.4 231.3 75.4 4,731.0 577.1 66.4 

 
The fair value hedge included in the above tables is an interest rate swap in respect of the interest payments relating to the 
subordinated debt issued by the Company.  This instrument forms part of a hedge relationship with the subordinated debt 
issued. 
 
The amount of £106.1m (2007: £20.0m) was accepted by the Group in assets that it is permitted to sell or repledge in the 
event of default of the owner of the collateral.  No collateral was sold or repledged during the year or in the prior year. The 
Company has an obligation to return these assets to the pledgor. 
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27. Share capital  
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Authorised share capital:    
648,929,000 ordinary shares of £1 each  648.9 648.9 648.9 648.9 
 
Allotted, called up and fully paid share capital: 

  

648,929,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 648.9 648.9 648.9 648.9 
 

There were no changes in ordinary share capital during the year. 
 
 
28. Other reserves 
 

The balance of other reserves was established on 3 March 2000 at the point when the Company acquired certain long term 
business assets and liabilities following the demutualisation of Scottish Widows Fund and Life Assurance Society (“the 
Society”). The balance at 3 March 2000 represented the amount of surplus assets over liabilities allocated to the Non-
Participating Fund and Shareholders Fund of the Company under the Scheme of Transfer (“the Scheme”). Since that date, 
the balance of other reserves has reduced as net transfers have been made to retained earnings. 
 
Movements in the balance of other reserves are disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity. The loan was established 
under the Scheme and, under the terms of the loan, the With Profits Fund receives profits arising on business allocated to the 
Non-Participating Fund at the date of demutualisation and repays the loan by a corresponding amount.  There were no 
movements in other reserves during the year ended 31 December 2008.   

 
 
29. Minority interest 
 

Minority interest comprises holdings in the following investments which are partly, but not wholly, owned by the Group: 
 

Group 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

Dalkeith Corporation LLC 1.1 2.5 
Covent Garden Market 0.2 1.0 
Total 1.3 3.5 

 
 
30. Insurance contract liabilities 
 
 An analysis of the change in insurance contract liabilities is as follows: 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
     
At 1 January 22,680.6 20,494.4 25,900.8 19,180.7 
New business 2,950.1 2,950.1 2,427.3 2,377.8 
Changes in existing business (4,107.6) (3,986.0) (1,298.2) (1,064.1) 
Amounts disposed of in respect of Abbey Life - - (4,349.3) - 
At 31 December 21,523.1 19,458.5 22,680.6 20,494.4 

 
As the Group is wholly owned by an entity which prepares group financial statements, the Group has taken advantage of the 
provisions contained in FRS 27 and has not presented a capital position statement and supporting disclosures. Information in 
which the Group is included is given in the financial statements of Lloyds Banking Group. 
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31. Unallocated surplus 
 

An analysis of the change in unallocated surplus is as follows: 
 
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
     
At 1 January 552.9 552.9 614.4  594.2  
Change recognised through the income statement (263.7) (263.7) (41.5) (41.5) 
Other movements - - (5.2) 0.2  
Amounts disposed of in respect of Abbey Life - - (14.8) - 
At 31 December 289.2 289.2 552.9  552.9 

 
 
32. Subordinated debt 
 

During September 2005, the Company issued £560m of step-up perpetual subordinated notes. Redemption of the notes is at the 
option of the Company, and is generally not allowable prior to the first call date on 24 September 2015. Interest is payable on an 
annual basis at a rate of 5.125% until the first call date, after which point interest is payable on a variable rate basis at three 
monthly intervals.  Repayment of the notes is subordinate to the claims of the Company’s senior creditors, including all 
policyholders.  
 
The interest rate risk of the note is managed using a derivative which is accounted for using hedge accounting, as set out in note 
26. 
 
The notes had a fair value of £390.1m at 31 December 2008 (2007: £505.3m).  These fair values have been calculated using 
published bid prices at the reporting date. 
 
 
 

33. Borrowings  
 

 2008 2007 
 £m £ m £m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Bank overdrafts 49.6 35.8 74.6 7.3 
Total 49.6 35.8 74.6 7.3 

 
The fair value of the balances set out above is not materially different to the carrying value due to the short-term nature of 
these balances. 

 
 
34. Investment contract liabilities 
  

An analysis of the change in investment contract liabilities is as follows: 
  
 2008 2007 

Investment 
contract 

with DPF 

Investment 
contract 

without DPF

 
 

Total 

Investment 
contract 

with DPF 

Investment 
contract 

without DPF

 
 

Total 

Group 

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

   
At 1 January 14,878.2 18,203.6 33,081.8 15,234.4 24,371.0 39,605.4 
New business 208.4 567.8 776.2 490.6 2,413.5 2,904.1 
Changes in existing business (3,502.3) (4,533.8) (8,036.1) (846.8) (1,297.8) (2,144.6) 
Amounts disposed of in respect of Abbey 
Life - - - - (7,283.1) (7,283.1) 
At 31 December 11,584.3 14,237.6 25,821.9 14,878.2 18,203.6  33,081.8 
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 2008 2007 

Investment 
contract 

with DPF 

Investment 
contract 

without DPF

 
 

Total 

Investment 
contract 

with DPF 

Investment 
contract 

without DPF

 
 

Total 

Company 

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

   
At 1 January 14,876.8 15,431.8 30,308.6 15,233.0 14,455.5 29,688.5 
New business 208.4 355.9 564.3 490.6 1,871.1 2,361.7 
Changes in existing business (3,502.1) (3,584.7) (7,086.8) (846.8) (894.8) (1,741.6) 
At 31 December 11,583.1 12,203.0 23,786.1 14,876.8 15,431.8 30,308.6 

 
 
35. Other financial liabilities 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Insurance business:     

Amounts payable in respect of direct insurance business 49.3 35.3 67.2 64.7 
Claims outstanding 167.6 167.6 182.5 181.6 
Amounts payable on reinsurance contracts 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 

     
Other liabilities:     
Due to related parties 139.5 130.3 84.7 105.7 
Due to brokers 81.0 6.3 84.0 35.0 
Other 460.6 161.3 473.6 179.3 
     
Total 898.5 501.3 892.5 566.8 

 
Included within other liabilities, as required by IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”, is £100 of 6% cumulative 
preference shares issued by the Company during 2005. 
 
 

36. Retirement benefit obligations 
 
The majority of the Company’s employees are members of the Scottish Widows Retirement Benefits Scheme (“SRBS”), 
although certain employees are members of Lloyds Banking Group Pension Schemes Nos 1 and 2 (the “Lloyds Schemes”). 
The employees of Abbey Life are members of the Abbey Life Staff Pension Scheme (“Abbey Life Scheme”).  Abbey Life 
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group in 2007.  Therefore, the current and immediate prior year disclosures are in respect of 
the SRBS and Lloyds Schemes only.  Comparatives in respect of the year ended 31 December 2006 continue to cover SRBS, 
the Lloyds Schemes and the Abbey Life Scheme.  All schemes provide defined benefits to the members of those schemes.  
 
The latest full valuation of the SRBS was carried out as at 1 May 2006; this has been updated to 31 December 2008 by a 
qualified actuary. 
 
 
With regard to the Lloyds Schemes, the risks associated with those schemes are shared among various entities under the 
common control of the Lloyds Banking Group. The appropriate share of the deficit associated with the schemes has been 
added to the retirement benefit obligations of Scottish Widows plc.   
 
Employee contributions made during the year were £1.5m (2007: £1.5m). 
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Scottish Widows Retirement Benefits Scheme 
 

The principal assumptions used in determining the pension benefit obligations for the Scottish Widows plc Group are 
as follows: 
 
 Scottish Widows 
 2008 2007 
 % % 

   
Rate of inflation  3.00 3.30 
Rate of salary increases 4.25 4.50 
Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred pensions 3.00 3.30 
Discount rate 6.30 5.80 
Expected rate of return on assets (average) 6.41 6.60 
Deferred pensions revaluation 3.00 3.30 
 
 
The sensitivity of the pension scheme deficit at the balance sheet date to changes in the key assumptions set out above is set out 
below.  The table demonstrates the effect of change in key assumptions whilst other assumptions remain unchanged. 

 
  

Scottish Widows 
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 
   
0.2% (2007: 1%) increase in discount rate (24.1) (127.2) 
0.2% (2007: 1%) decrease in discount rate 25.5 169.8 
0.2% (2007: 1%) increase in inflation rate 25.7 169.8 
0.2% (2007: 1%) decrease in inflation rate (24.3) (126.2) 
1 year increase in mortality age rating (15.2) (17.2) 
1 year decrease in mortality age rating 15.8 17.8 

  
 
The mortality assumptions used for the SRBS are illustrated by the following years of life expectancy in retirement: 
 

 2008 2007 
 Years Years 

   
Life expectancy for member aged 60, on the valuation date   
-Men 26.4 25.9 
-Women 27.2 27.9 
Life expectancy for member aged 60, 15 years after the valuation date   
-Men 27.3 27.1 
-Women 28.1 29.0 

 
 
The assets of the SRBS are summarised as follows: 

 
 2008 2007 

   
Fair value  
of assets 

Proportion 
of total 
assets 

 
Fair value 
of assets 

Proportion 
of total 
 assets 

 £ m % £ m % 

     
Equities 251.2 43.9 319.6 49.5 
Fixed interest gilts 15.0 2.6 38.8 6.0 
Index linked gilts 170.3 29.7 38.4 6.0 
Non-government bonds 78.0 13.6 81.0 12.6 
Property 30.7 5.4 30.8 4.8 
Cash 27.7 4.8 137.1 21.1 
Total fair value of scheme assets 572.9 100.0 645.7 100.0 
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The expected long-term rates of return on the investments held by the SRBS are as follows: 
 

 Scottish Widows 
 2008 2007 
 % % 

   
Equities 8.4 8.1 
Fixed interest gilts 3.7 4.5 
Index linked gilts 4.0 4.4 
Non-government bonds 6.7 6.0 
Property 6.4 6.7 
Cash 3.8 4.8 
   
Overall expected rate of return 6.4% 6.6% 

 
 

The amounts recognised in the Scottish Widows plc Group’s balance sheet for the SRBS scheme are as follows: 
 
 Scottish 

Widows 
Scottish 
Widows 

Scottish Widows plc Group 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

   
Present value of defined benefit obligations 564.7 624.2 
Fair value of scheme assets (572.9) (645.7) 
Unrecognised gains / (losses) 32.2 51.6 
Liability recognised in the balance sheet 24.0 30.1 

  
As referred to in the accounting policies, gains and losses are not recognised unless the cumulative gain or loss at the end of 
the previous reporting period exceeds the greater of 10 per cent of the scheme assets or liabilities. 
 
 
The amounts recognised in the income statement for the SRBS are as follows: 
 
Scottish Widows plc Group  2008     2007 
  £ m     £ m 

    
Current service cost  23.4 26.0 
Interest cost on benefit obligation  36.6 32.0 
Expected return on scheme assets  (43.1) (39.8) 
Past service cost  0.7 0.8 
Net expense recognised   17.6 19.0 

 
 

 Of the total charge for the year, £24.5m (2007: £26.8m for SRBS and £1.0m for the Lloyds TSB Schemes) has been included 
within expenses and a credit of £6.6m (2007: £7.8m for SRBS and £0.6m for the Lloyds TSB Schemes) has been included 
within investment income.  

  
 The actual return on the assets of the Scheme amounted to a loss of £79.2m (2007: gain of £44.2m).  

 
 

 Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations for the SRBS are as follows: 
 

Scottish Widows plc Group 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

 
At 1 January 624.2 638.8 
Current service costs 23.4 27.0 
Interest cost on benefit obligations 36.6 33.0 
Benefits paid (19.9) (16.9) 
Scheme obligations transferred to Scottish Widows Investment Partnership Group Limited at 31 
December 2008 

 
- 

 
(21.0) 

Actuarial (gains) (100.3) (37.5) 
Past service cost 0.7 0.8 
At 31 December 564.7 624.2 
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Movements in the fair value of the assets of the SRBS during the year are as follows: 
 

Scottish Widows plc Group 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

  
At 1 January 645.7 615.5 
Expected return on scheme assets 43.1 41.1 
Contributions received 23.7 24.6 
Scheme assets transferred to Scottish Widows Investment Partnership Group Limited at 31 
December 2008 

 
- 

 
(21.7) 

Benefits paid (19.9) (16.9) 
Actuarial gains (119.7) 3.1 
At 31 December 572.9 645.7 

   
 The estimated amount of contributions expected to be paid in respect of the SRBS during the financial year ended 31 

December 2009 is £18.7m.  
 
 
A summary of the financial position of the SRBS, excluding unrecognised gains and losses, and the history of 
experience adjustments is as follows: 
 
 2008 2007     2006 2005 

 
2004 

 £ m £ m    £ m £ m £ m 

      
Present value of defined benefit obligations 564.7 624.2 638.8 616.0 504.0 
Fair value of scheme assets (572.9) (645.7) (615.5) (556.0) (441.0) 
(Surplus)/deficit in the scheme (8.2) (21.5) 23.3 60.0 63.0 
      
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities:      
Amount (£123.7m) £0.4m (£17.9m) £74.0m £16.0m 
Percentage of scheme liabilities 20.9% 0.1% 3% 12% 3% 
      
Experience adjustments on scheme assets:      
Amount (£5.4m) £3.1m £10.8m £66.0m £8.0m 
Percentage of scheme assets 0.9% 0.5% 1.8% 12% 2% 
 
 
 The SRBS also includes a defined contribution section; new employees are offered membership of this section of the 
scheme.  During the year ended 31 December 2008, the charge to the income statement in respect of this scheme was £2.8m 
(2007: £3.0m), representing the contributions payable by the Company in accordance with the scheme’s rules.  There were no 
outstanding or prepaid contributions at 31 December 2008. 
 
 
Other schemes 
 
Defined contribution schemes 
 
The Company’s ultimate parent company operates a number of defined contribution schemes, principally the defined 
contribution sections of the Lloyds Schemes; new employees are offered membership of the defined contribution section of the 
Lloyds Banking Group Pension Scheme No. 1. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2008, the charge to the income statement in respect of these schemes was nil (2007: £0.5m), 
representing the contributions payable by the Company in accordance with each scheme’s rules.  There were no outstanding or 
prepaid contributions at 31 December 2008. 
 
Defined benefit schemes 
 
The Company’s ultimate parent company has established a number of defined benefit pension schemes in the UK and overseas.  
A small number of the Company’s employees are members of the defined benefit sections of the Lloyds Schemes.  These are 
funded schemes providing retirement benefits calculated as a percentage of final salary depending on length of service; the 
minimum retirement age under the rules of the schemes is 50. 
 
The latest full valuations of the two main schemes were carried out as at 30 June 2005; these have been updated to 31 December 
2008 by qualified independent actuaries. 
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The amounts shown below relate to the Company’s share of obligations arising from membership by the Company’s employees 
of the defined benefit schemes operated by the Company’s ultimate parent company. 
 
The amounts recognised in the Scottish Widows plc Group’s balance sheet are as follows: 
 
 2008 2007 

 £ m £ m 

   
Present value of defined benefit obligations 176.2 179.6 
Fair value of scheme assets (148.2) (154.4) 
Unrecognised gains / (losses) (0.9) 3.0 
Liability recognised in the balance sheet 27.1 28.2 
 
The movements in the liability recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: 
 
 2008 2007 

 £ m £ m 

   
At 1 January 28.2 29.3 
Net charge to the income statement 0.2 0.4 
Contributions paid (1.3) (1.5) 
At 31 December  27.1 28.2 
 
The expense recognised in the income statement comprises: 

 
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

   
Current service cost 0.4 1.0 
Interest cost on benefit obligation 2.5 3.1 
Expected return on scheme assets (2.7) (3.7) 
Net expense recognised  0.2 0.4 
 
 
The following information relates to the Lloyds Schemes as at 31 December 2008 
 
In accordance with IAS 19, the remaining information below relates to the Lloyds Schemes operated by the Company’s 
ultimate parent company. 
 
The Company’s ultimate parent company expects to pay contributions of approximately £525m in respect of the Lloyds 
Schemes in 2009. 

 
 Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations during the year are as follows: 

 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

   
At 1 January 15,303.0 15,637.0 
Current service costs 213.0 251.0 
Interest cost on benefit obligations 872.0 785.0 
Benefits paid (545.0) (887.0) 
Actuarial gains (1,776.0) (509.0) 
Past service cost 22.0 26.0 
At 31 December 14,089.0 15,303.0 
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Movements in the fair value of scheme assets during the year are as follows: 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

   
At 1 January 14,746.0 13,768.0 
Expected return of scheme assets 993.0 943.0 
Contributions received 466.0 397.0 
Benefits paid (545.0) (509.0) 
Actuarial gains (3,227.0) 147.0 
At 31 December 12,433.0 14,746.0 
 
Actual return on scheme assets  (2,234.0) 1,090.0  
 
The principal actuarial and financial assumptions used in the valuations of all of the Lloyds Banking Group’s defined benefit 
pension schemes, including the No’s 1 and 2 schemes, were as follows: 
 
   
   2008 2007 
   % % 

     
Rate of inflation    3.00 3.30 
Rate of salary increases   3.75 4.00 
Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred pensions   2.80 3.10 
Discount rate   6.30 5.80 
 
In addition, the mortality assumptions used for the Lloyds Schemes are illustrated by the following years of life expectancy in 
retirement: 
 

 2008 2007 
 Years Years 

   
Life expectancy for member aged 60, on the valuation date   
-Men 26.4 25.9 
-Women 27.2 27.9 
Life expectancy for member aged 60, 15 years after the valuation date   
-Men 27.3 27.1 
-Women 28.1 29.0 

 
The mortality assumptions used in the scheme valuations are based on standard tables published by the Institute and Faculty of 
Actuaries which were adjusted in line with both current industry experience and the actual experience of the relevant schemes. 
 
An analysis of the impact of a reasonable change in these assumptions is provided in the 2008 annual report and accounts of 
the Lloyds Banking Group.  Copies of the 2008 annual report and accounts of Lloyds Banking Group may be obtained from 
the Company Secretary’s Department, Lloyds Banking Group plc, 25 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7HN. 

 
The expected return on scheme assets for all of the Lloyds Banking Group’s schemes, including the No’s 1 and 2 schemes, is 
based on the following assumptions: 
 

 2008 2007 
 % % 

   
Equities 8.2 8.0 
Fixed interest gilts 4.5 4.6 
Index linked gilts 4.4 4.2 
Non-government bonds 6.0 5.1 
Property 6.7 6.5 
Cash 4.8 3.9 
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The expected return on scheme assets in 2009 for all of the Lloyds Banking Group’s schemes, including the No’s 1 and 2 
schemes, will be calculated using the following assumptions: 
 

  2009 
  % 

   
Equities  8.4 
Fixed interest gilts  3.7 
Index linked gilts  4.0 
Non-government bonds  6.7 
Property  6.4 
Cash  3.8 

   
 

Composition of scheme assets: 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

   
Equities 6,517.0 7,821.0 
UK fixed interest gilts 1,387.0 1,953.0 
UK index linked gilts 1,073.0 1,316.0 
Sterling non-government bonds 1,536.0 1,816.0 
Property 1,421.0 1,604.0 
Derivative assets 623.0 226.0 
Cash, and other assets and liabilities (124.0) 10.0 
At 31 December 12,433.0 14,746.0 
 
 
The assets of all the funded pension plans are held independently of the Lloyds Banking Group’s assets in separate trustee 
administered funds. 
 
The expected return on plan assets was determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets underlying the 
current investment policy.  Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields at the balance 
sheet date.  Expected returns on equity and property investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced in the 
respective markets. 

 
 

Experience adjustments history (since the adoption of IAS 19): 
 

  
2008 

 
2007 

 
2006 

 
2005 

 
2004 

 £ m     £ m     £ m     £ m     £ m 

      
Present value of defined benefit obligation 14,089.0 15,303.0     15,637.0    15,610.0    13,427.0 
Fair value of scheme assets (12,433.0) (14,746.0)   (13,768.0) (12,634.0) (10,537.0) 
 1,656.0 557.0  1,869.0  2,976.0  2,890.0  
Unrecognised actuarial gains / (losses) (217.0) 1,234.0  200.0  (478.0) (234.0) 
Liability in the balance sheet 1,439.0 1,791.0  2,069.0  2,498.0    2,656.0 
Experience losses on scheme liabilities (29.0) (180.0) (50.0) (65.0)        (145.0) 
Experience gains on scheme assets (3,227.0) 147.0  297.0  1,400.0          341.0 
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The expense recognised in the income statement comprises: 
 

 2008     2007 
 £ m     £ m 

   
Current service cost 213.0 251.0  
Interest cost on benefit obligation 872.0 785.0  
Expected return on scheme assets (993.0) (943.0) 
Past service cost 22.0 26.0  
Total pension expense  114.0 119.0  

 
 
37. Accruals and deferred income 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Accrued expenses 55.5 11.4 79.3 15.4 
Deferred income 108.3 1,037.2 94.9 835.6 
Total 163.8 1,048.6 174.2 851.0 

 
 
38. Insurance and participating investment contract liabilities – assumptions, change in assumptions and sensitivities 

 
Policyholder liabilities can be analysed into With Profit Fund liabilities and non-participating fund liabilities. In accordance 
with FRS 27, the liabilities of the With Profit Fund are accounted for using the “realistic” capital regime of the FSA 
(“realistic” liabilities). All non-participating liabilities are accounted for using a traditional prospective actuarial discounted 
cash flow methodology. 

 
 (1) Processes used to determine key assumptions in respect of insurance and investment contracts 
   

(a) Liabilities of the With Profit Fund calculated on a “realistic” basis 

The Company’s With Profit Fund contains both insurance and participating investment contracts. The main components of the 
realistic liabilities are  
 
 with-profits benefit reserves, i.e. the total asset shares for with-profits policies; 
 the costs of options and guarantees;  
 deductions levied against asset shares; and 
 the impact of smoothing policy.  
 
The realistic assessment is carried out using a stochastic simulation model which values liabilities on a market consistent basis. 
The calculation of realistic liabilities uses best estimate assumptions of e.g. mortality, persistency and expenses.  

 
The processes for determining the key assumptions are set out below, and remain unchanged from the prior year: 
 
 Investment returns and discount rates 

A stochastic economic scenario generator, which uses recognised asset models, provides future asset value and yield 
scenarios; these determine investment returns for each scenario.  The economic scenario generator is calibrated to observable 
yield curves and option prices where possible. Nominal interest rates are modelled using a standard interest rate model, 
calibrated to risk-free yields.  The risk-free yield is defined as the spot yields derived from the UK gilt yield curve.  The 
volatility of future equity returns in excess of nominal interest rates has been calibrated to options on the FTSE-100 
index, with volatility assumed to vary with both the term and the price of the option.  For property, no observable prices 
exist and so volatility has been derived from analysis of historic data. The liabilities are valued by discounting projected 
future cashflows using the risk free yield. 
 

 Investment volatility 

Investment volatility is derived from implied volatility of derivatives where possible, or historical observed volatility where it 
is not possible to observe meaningful prices.  
 

 Mortality  

The mortality assumptions, including allowances for improvements in longevity for annuitants, are based on recent actual 
experience, industry tables and mortality rates implied by indicative reinsurance terms.  
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 Persistency 

Persistency is a function of both the rate of policy termination and the rate at which policyholders stop paying regular 
premiums. The assumed levels of these rates are based on a combination of historical experience and management’s views on 
future experience taking into consideration potential changes that may result from guarantees and options becoming more 
valuable under adverse market conditions. 
 

 Maintenance expenses 

Allowance is made for the charges applied to the With Profit Fund and these are, for conventional with-profits business, 
governed by the Scheme of Transfer. 
 

 Guaranteed annuity option take-up rates 

The guaranteed annuity option take-up rates are set with regard to the Scottish Widows Group’s recent actual experience, 
increased to reflect future uncertainties where the exercise of options by policyholders might increase liabilities.  
 

 (b)  Liabilities of the non-participating funds  
  

(i) Insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation feature 
 
The liabilities of the Company are determined on the basis of recognised actuarial methods and consistently with the approach to 
be used for the FSA returns. The methods used involve estimating future policy cashflows over the duration of the in-force book 
of policies, and discounting these cashflows back to the valuation date allowing for probabilities of occurrence. 
 
The liabilities will vary with movements in interest rates (this applies in particular to the cost of guaranteed benefits payable in 
the future) and with movements in the cost of life assurance and annuity benefits for which future mortality is uncertain. 
 
Assumptions are made in respect of all material factors affecting future cashflows, including future interest rates, mortality and 
costs. Generally, assumptions used to value the liabilities contain a margin for adverse deviation and are determined as 
required by FSA rules. This margin for adverse deviation is based on management’s judgment and reflects management’s 
views on the inherent level of uncertainty. The assumptions to which the liabilities are most sensitive are the interest rates 
used to discount the cashflows and the mortality assumptions, particularly those for annuitants. The key assumptions used in 
the measurement of the non-participating fund liabilities are: 
 
 Interest rates 

The rates used are derived consistently with the approach to be used for the FSA returns. These limit the rates of interest 
that can be used by reference to a number of factors including the dividend and earnings yields on equities, rental 
income, and redemption yields on fixed interest assets at the valuation date. Margins for risk are allowed for in the 
assumed interest rates. These are derived from the limits contained in the FSA Rules, including reductions made to the 
available yields to allow for default risk based upon the credit rating of each stock, and an over-riding restriction which 
limits the yield from investments in property by reference to the yield from appropriate long-term gilts. 
 

 Mortality and morbidity 

The mortality and morbidity assumptions, including allowances for improvements in longevity for annuitants, are set with 
regard to the Scottish Widows Group’s actual experience where this provides a reliable basis, and relevant industry data 
otherwise, and includes a margin for adverse deviation. The assumptions have additional margins over the With Profit 
Fund assumptions, as required by FSA regulations. Improvements in female annuitant mortality are assumed to follow the 
medium cohort projection from the Actuarial profession’s mortality committee subject to a minimum rate of improvement 
of 1.5% per annum. Improvements in male annuitant mortality are assumed to follow the long cohort projection from the 
Actuarial profession’s mortality committee subject to a minimum rate of improvement of 1.5% per annum. 
 

 Maintenance expenses 

Allowance is explicitly made for future policy costs. Expense loadings are determined by reference to an internal analysis 
of current and expected future expense levels, plus a margin for adverse deviations. Explicit allowance is made for future 
expense inflation from the valuation date. No allowance is made for any expected reductions in expense levels that have 
not occurred at the valuation date.   
 

 Persistency rates 

Prudent lapse rate assumptions have been used for term assurance business. Whether a lapse rate is prudent broadly 
depends on whether the policy is negative or positive at any point in its life, thus for each policy a high lapse rate is 
assumed at points where the projected liability is negative and a low lapse rate is assumed at points where the projected 
liability is positive.  
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(ii) Investment contracts without discretionary participation feature 
 
These contracts are unit-linked, and the liability is determined as the value of the units allocated to the contracts. 
 
(2) Key assumptions 
 
(a) With Profits Fund 
 
Assumptions are given for the “realistic” valuation. In addition, liabilities in respect of non-participating policies in the With 
Profit Fund were also accounted for on the traditional regulatory assessment.  
 
 (i) Investment returns and discount rates 
 
In the “realistic” valuation of liabilities in calibrating the economic scenario generator, the risk-free yields curve is defined as 
the yields curve for UK gilts. 
 
 
The following interest rates are assumed in the regulatory valuation of non-participating policies in the With Profit Fund: 
 

Class of business 
2008 Interest 

Rate (Net) 
2007 Interest 

Rate (Net) 

 
Annuities in Payment 4.16% 4.12% 
Deferred Annuities 3.20% 3.95% 

 
(ii) Investment volatility (realistic liabilities only) 
 
The calibration of the stochastic simulation model uses implied volatilities of derivatives where possible, or historical 
observed volatility where it is not possible to observe meaningful prices.  For example, as at 31 December 2008, the 10 year-
equity-implied-at-the-money assumption was set at 34.6 per cent (25.5 per cent as at 31 December 2007).  The assumption 
for property volatility was 15 per cent (31 December 2007: 15 per cent).  The volatility of interest rates has been calibrated 
to the implied volatility of swaptions which was broadly 16 per cent as at 31 December 2008 (31 December 2007: 11 per 
cent). 
 
 
(iii) Mortality assumptions  
 
The mortality assumptions for the main classes of business are as follows: 
 

Assurances (excluding term assurances) 2008 2007 

 
Conventional With-
Profits   

 
Males 
 
Smoker 
Non-smoker 
Unknown 
 
Females 
 
Smoker 
Non-smoker 
Unknown 
 

 

 

93% AMS00 ult 

82% AMN00 ult 

77% AMC00 ult 

 

 

77% AFS00 ult 

84% AFN00 ult 

84% AFC00 ult 

 

 

103% AMS00 ult 

87% AMN00 ult 

83% AMC00 ult 

 

 

90% AFS00 ult 

92% AFN00 ult 

92% AFC00 ult 

Unitised Assurances Males 
Females 

63% AMC00 ult 
67% AFC00 ult 

66% AMC00 ult 
67% AFC00 ult 
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Annuities  2008 2007 

    
Self-employed / 
Personal 
Pensions 
 

Males 
 
Females 

81% RMV 2000 ult 
mc(1.25%) 
88% RFV 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.25%) 

81% RMV 2000 ult 
mc(1.25%) 
88% RFV 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.25%) 

Other Annuities 
 
 

Males 
 
Females 

95 - 106% PCMA 2000 
ult mc(1.25%) 
85 - 98% PCFA 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.25%) 

95 - 106% PCMA 2000 
ult mc(1.25%) 
85 - 98% PCFA 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.25%) 

    
    
Deferred Annuities in 
Deferment 

Males 
Females 

85% AMC00 ult * 
77% AFC00 ult* 

76% AMC00 ult * 
82% AFC00 ult* 

 
With regard to the above tables: 
 
‘mc’ denotes that explicit provision for future mortality improvement is made by applying the ‘Medium Cohort’ projection 
factors from the Actuarial profession’s Continuous Mortality Investigation for the period starting on 31 December 2002 to 
the 2000 base tables (adjusted as above). 75% means 75% of the ‘Medium Cohort’ projection factors are used. If a 
percentage is shown in brackets this is a minimum annual improvement rate for all future years and ages.  
 
* For deferred annuities in deferment an explicit provision for future improvement has been made by assuming mortality in 
deferment reduces at a rate of 3% pa from the valuation date through deferment. 
 
(iv) Lapse assumptions 
 
The long-term lapse assumptions for the main classes of business are detailed below. 
 
2008 

Average lapse / surrender / paid-up (%p.a.) for 
the policy years 

Product   1-5 6-10 11-15 16-20 

CWP savings endowment surrender 4.40 4.40 3.00 3.00 

CWP target cash endowment surrender 6.70 6.70 5.14 2.80 

UWP savings endowment surrender 12.50 12.50 13.50 13.50 

UWP target cash endowment surrender 11.85 13.65 12.50 12.50 

UWP bond surrender 10.26 15.79 13.20 12.57 

UWP bond 
automatic 
withdrawals 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 

CWP pension regular premium PUP 6.00 5.50 3.34 2.80 

CWP pension regular premium surrender 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 

CWP pension single premium surrender 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 

UWP pension regular premium PUP 14.30 14.51 12.11 10.95 

UWP pension regular premium surrender 4.18 4.30 4.03 3.95 

UWP pension single premium surrender 3.84 3.84 3.52 3.51 
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 2007 

Average lapse / surrender / paid-up rate for the 
policy years 

Product   1-5 6-10 11-15 16-20 

CWP savings endowment surrender 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.40 

CWP target cash endowment surrender 7.00 7.00 5.72 3.80 

UWP savings endowment surrender 11.95 11.85 12.75 12.75 

UWP target cash endowment surrender 11.85 13.65 12.50 12.50 

UWP bond surrender 5.15 11.56 9.62 8.58 

UWP bond 
automatic 
withdrawals 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 

CWP pension regular premium PUP 6.00 5.50 3.74 3.30 

CWP pension regular premium surrender 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 

CWP pension single premium surrender 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 

UWP pension regular premium PUP 12.36 10.77 8.51 8.32 

UWP pension regular premium surrender 2.81 2.36 2.38 2.37 

UWP pension single premium surrender 2.70 2.50 2.49 2.48 
 
(v) Other assumptions 
 
Deferred annuity contracts with a guaranteed-rate annuity option have been valued based upon an assumed rate of take-up of 
the guaranteed annuity option of 85.0% for the realistic assessment (85.0% assumed at 31 December 2007). 
 
(b) Non-participating funds 
 

 The principal assumptions underlying the calculation of the non-participating fund liabilities are given below. 
  
 In the following tables, LTSBL denotes policies transferred from Lloyds TSB Life, SW denotes original Scottish Widows 

policies, BHL denotes policies transferred from Lloyds TSB Life and originally written by Black Horse Life, and TSB 
denotes policies transferred from Lloyds TSB Life and originally written by TSB Life or TSB Pensions. 

  
(i) Investment returns and discount rates 
 

 
 
Class of business 

2008 
Interest rate 

(net) 
% 

2007 
Interest rate 

(net) 
% 

Conventional Life business and non-unit reserves on linked business 2.72 3.12 
Annuities in payment reinsured to Scottish Widows Annuities Limited 5.37 5.04 
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(ii) Mortality assumptions  
 
The mortality assumptions for the main classes of business are as follows: 
 

    
Term Assurances  2008 2007 

    
 Males   
 Smoker 105 - 165% TMS00(5) 

select 
105 - 165% TMS00(5) 
select 

 Non-Smoker 95 - 170% TMN00(5) 
select 

95 - 170% TMN00(5) 
select 

 Unknown 95 - 175% TMN00(5) 
select 

95 - 175% TMN00(5) 
select 

    
 Females   
 Smoker 110 - 145% TFS00(5) 

select 
120 - 145% TFS00(5) 
select 

 Non-Smoker 105 - 190% TFN00(5) 
select 

105 - 190% TFN00(5) 
select 

 Unknown 105 - 175% TFN00(5) 
select 

105 - 175% TFN00(5) 
select 

    
 Plus, for 

AIDS, 
  

 Males 33.3% of AIDSR6A for 
calendar year 1998 

33.3% of AIDSR6A for 
calendar year 1998 

 Females 10.0% of AIDSR6A for 
calendar year 1993 

10.0% of AIDSR6A for 
calendar year 1993 

    
 
 

    
Annuities  2008 2007 

    
Purchased (whole life) Males 74% IML 2000 ult     

mod lc (1.5%)  
 

74% IML 2000 ult     
mod lc (1.5%)  
 

 Females 100% IFL 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.5%) 

100% IFL 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.5%) 

    
Self-employed / personal 
Pensions 

Males 73% RMV 2000 ult    
mod lc (1.5%) 
 

73% RMV 2000 ult    
mod lc (1.5%) 
 

 Females 80% RFV 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.5%) 

80% RFV 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.5%) 

    
Other Annuities Males 86 - 108% PCMA 2000 

ult  mod lc (1.5%) 
 

86 - 108% PCMA 2000 
ult  mod lc (1.5%) 
 

 Females 78 - 89% PCFA 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.5%) 

78 - 89% PCFA 2000 ult 
75%mc(1.5%) 

Deferred annuities in 
Deferment 

Males 75% AMC00 ult * 
 

70% AMC00 ult * 
 

 Females 70% AFC00 ult* 75% AFC00 ult* 
    

 
With regard to the above tables: 
 
‘mod lc’ denotes that explicit provision for future mortality improvement is made by applying, for the period starting on 31 
December 2002, 100% of the ‘Medium Cohort’ projection factors until 31 December 2006, and thereafter 100% of the ‘Long 
Cohort’ projection factors from the Actuarial profession’s Continuous Mortality Investigation Committee to the 2000 base 
tables (adjusted as above). ‘mc’ denotes that explicit provision for future mortality improvement is made by applying the 
‘Medium Cohort’ projection factors from the Actuarial profession’s Continuous Mortality Investigation for the period 
starting on 31 December 2002 to the 2000 base tables (adjusted as above). 75%mc means 75% of the ‘Medium Cohort’ 



SCOTTISH WIDOWS PLC  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

55 

projection factors are used. If a percentage is shown in brackets this is a minimum annual improvement rate for all future 
years and ages. 
 
For deferred annuities in deferment, an explicit provision for future improvement has been made by assuming mortality in 
deferment reduces at a rate of 4% pa from the valuation date through deferment. 

(iii) Lapse assumptions 
 
Non-Profit Term Assurance Lapse Rates 
 
Whether a high or low lapse rate is prudent broadly depends on whether the policy is an asset or a liability at any point in its 
life. Thus ‘high’ and ‘low’ assumptions are needed, and the valuation program applies the appropriate rate at each point in 
the projections. 

2008 
 Average lapse-surrender-paid up rate (% pa) for the 

policy years 
  1-5 6-10 11-15 16-20 
Description      
      
Level term  Lapse – Low 

             High 
8.45 
14.51 

5.91 
10.88 

4.47 
8.96 

4.13 
8.51 

Decreasing term  Lapse – Low 
             High    

10.53 
17.80 

9.99 
16.70 

9.32 
15.72 

9.00 
15.29 

Accelerated critical illness  Lapse – Low 
             High 

8.45 
14.51 

5.91 
10.88 

4.47 
8.96 

4.13 
8.51 

Income protection   Lapse Nil Nil Nil Nil 
CWP savings endowment  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
CWP target cash endowment  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UWP savings endowment  Surrender 9.38 9.38 10.13 10.13 
UWP target cash endowment  Surrender 8.89 10.24 9.38 9.38 
UL savings endowment  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UL target cash endowment  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UWP bond Surrender 4.06 10.80 6.66 6.66 
UWP bond Automatic 

withdrawals 
5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 

UL bond  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UL bond  Automatic 

withdrawals 
5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 

CWP Pension regular premium  PUP Nil Nil Nil Nil 
CWP Pension regular premium  Surrender 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 
CWP Pension single premium  Surrender 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 
UWP regular premium pension  PUP 20.0 Nil Nil Nil 
UWP regular premium pension  Surrender 3.20 3.29 3.05 2.99 
UWP single premium pension Surrender 3.23 3.18 3.04 3.00 
UL regular premium pension  PUP 20.0 Nil Nil Nil 
UL regular premium pension  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UL group regular premium pension  PUP 20.0 Nil Nil Nil 
UL group regular premium pension  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UL single premium pension  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
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2007 

 Average lapse-surrender-paid up rate (% pa) for the 
policy years 

  1-5 6-10 11-15 16-20 
Description      
      
Level term  Lapse – Low 

             High 
8.38 
14.43 

6.00 
11.00 

4.64 
9.19 

4.28 
8.70 

Decreasing term  Lapse – Low 
             High    

12.30 
20.68 

11.40 
19.00 

10.88 
18.13 

10.88 
18.13 

Accelerated critical illness  Lapse – Low 
             High 

8.38 
14.43 

6.00 
11.00 

4.64 
9.19 

4.28 
8.70 

Income protection   Lapse Nil Nil Nil Nil 
CWP savings endowment  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
CWP target cash endowment  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UWP savings endowment  Surrender 8.96 8.89 9.56 9.56 
UWP target cash endowment  Surrender 8.89 10.24 9.38 9.38 
UL savings endowment  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UL target cash endowment  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UWP bond3 Surrender 3.86 8.88 5.04 5.04 
UWP bond3 Automatic 

withdrawals  
5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 

UL bond  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UL bond  Automatic 

withdrawals 
5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 

CWP Pension regular premium  PUP Nil Nil Nil Nil 
CWP Pension regular premium  Surrender 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 
CWP Pension single premium  Surrender 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 
UWP regular premium pension  PUP 20.0 Nil Nil Nil 
UWP regular premium pension  Surrender 2.10 1.71 1.75 1.72 
UWP single premium pension Surrender 2.29 2.05 2.07 2.04 
UL regular premium pension  PUP 20.0 Nil Nil Nil 
UL regular premium pension  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UL group regular premium pension  PUP 20.0 Nil Nil Nil 
UL group regular premium pension  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 
UL single premium pension  Surrender Nil Nil Nil Nil 

 

 (3) The effect of changes in key assumptions  
 

 (a) With Profits Fund 
 

There is no net impact on profit before tax of the changes in key assumptions within the With Profit Fund as any change in 
policyholder liabilities is offset by an equal and opposite movement in the unallocated surplus of the long-term business. 
 
(b) Non-participating funds 
 
Changes in certain key assumptions were made during 2008 with the following impacts on profit before tax: 
 

Impact on profit 
before tax 

Impact on profit 
before tax 

 

£m £m 

 Group Company 
Variable   

Mortality 15.0 14.0 
Expenses 17.0 (12.0) 

 
Expense movements result from a review of expense allocations across all Scottish Widows entities. 
 
(4) Sensitivity analysis (in respect of insurance contracts only) 
 
(a) With Profits Fund  
 
The effects of the following changes in key assumptions were assessed, assuming that the other assumptions remained 
unchanged: 
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Variable   

   
Mortality  5% reduction 
Lapse rates  10% reduction 
Maintenance expenses  10% reduction 
Interest rates (1)  0.25% reduction 
Guaranteed annuity option take-up  5% increase 
Equity investment volatility  1% addition 

 
(1) The interest rate sensitivity relates to the impact of a 0.25% per cent movement in fixed interest yields and all of the 
consequential impacts on key economic assumptions including the risk discount rate, investment returns, valuation rates of 
interest and values of assets backing the business in question. 
 
In all cases there is no impact on profit before tax as any change in policyholder liabilities is offset by an equal and opposite 
movement in the unallocated surplus of the long-term business. 

  
(b) Non-participating funds 

 
The following table demonstrates the effect of changes in key assumptions on profit before tax assuming that the other 
assumptions remain unchanged. In practice this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some assumptions may be correlated.  

 
Insurance contracts without DPF 
 

Change in variable Impact on profit 
before tax 

Impact on profit 
before tax 

Variable 

 £ m £ m 

  Group Company 
    
Annuitant Mortality 5% reduction (81) (6) 
Other Mortality 5% reduction 20 20 
Lapses 10% reduction 2 2 
Maintenance expenses 10% reduction 35 15 
Interest rate – change in redemption yield (1) 0.25% reduction 10 7 
Interest rates – change in valuation margin (2) 0.25% reduction (158) - 

 
(1) This interest rate sensitivity shows the impact of a 0.25 per cent movement in gilt yields and all of the consequential impacts 

on key economic assumptions including the risk discount rate, investment returns, the valuation rates of interest and values 
of assets backing the business in question. This excludes any impact on assets not backing the liabilities. 

(2) This interest rate sensitivity shows, for pensions annuity business, the impact of a change to the valuation rate of interest 
without a corresponding change to asset yields; this would increase the margin available to cover default and other risks. 

 
Insurance contracts with DPF 
 

Change in variable Impact on profit 
before tax 

Impact on profit 
before tax 

Variable 

 £ m £ m 

  Group Company 
    
Maintenance expenses 10% decrease 13 13 
Interest rates (1) 0.25% decrease - - 

 
(1)  This interest rate sensitivity shows the impact of a 0.25 per cent movement in gilt yields and all of the consequential impacts 

on key economic assumptions including the risk discount rate, investment returns, the valuation rates of interest and values of 
assets backing the business in question. This excludes any impact on assets not backing the liabilities. 
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39. Decrease / (increase) in operating assets and liabilities 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Decrease / (increase) in operating assets:     

Investment properties 1,089.4 243.9 998.0 46.9 
Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of insurance contracts (40.4) (1,343.6) (10.2) (1,832.5) 
Financial assets:     

Investments 7,328.0 4,642.5 (1,220.0) 1,509.9 
Loans and receivables including insurance receivables (449.2) (457.7) (213.6) (260.5) 
Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of investment contracts - 4,502.1 - (1,535.4) 
Derivative financial instruments 88.4 345.8 76.9 (4.7) 

Net decrease / (increase) in operating assets 8,016.2 7,933.0 (368.9) (2,076.3) 
     
(Decrease) / increase in operating liabilities:     

Insurance contract liabilities (1,185.5) (1,063.9) 1,264.3 1,322.8 
Unallocated surplus within insurance business (263.7) (263.7) (41.3) (41.3) 
Financial liabilities:     

Subordinated debt 63.7 63.7 8.5 8.5 
Investment contract liabilities (7,259.9) (6,522.5) 803.6 620.1 
External interest in mutual investment funds 894.1 - (760.0) - 
Derivative financial instruments 164.3 9.0 49.5 16.6 
Other financial liabilities 5.6 (65.6) (209.5) (78.0) 

Pension and other post retirement benefit obligation (7.1) - (7.0) - 
Provision for other liabilities and charges (0.6) - (0.8) - 
Accruals and deferred income (10.4) 197.6 (21.0) 102.9 

Net (decrease) / increase in operating liabilities (7,599.5) (7,645.4) 1,086.3 1,951.6 
     
Net decrease / (increase) in operating assets and liabilities 416.7 287.6 717.4 (124.7) 

 
 
40. Cash and cash equivalents  
 
 Cash and cash equivalents include the following: 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Cash at bank 239.3 23.7 339.4 26.0 
Less: borrowings (49.6) (35.8) (74.6) (7.3) 
Total 189.7 (12.1) 264.8 18.7 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the above table contains amounts which are held entirely within the long-term insurance funds 
of the Group, including £201.8m held by subsidiaries (2007: £246.1m). These balances are not therefore readily available for 
use by the Group. 

 
 
41. Risk management policies 
 

The Group issues contracts that expose the Group to insurance risk or financial risk or both.  The Group assesses the relative 
costs and concentrations of each type of risk through the Individual Capital Assessment (“ICA”) and material issues are escalated 
to the Insurance Risk Committee, the Scottish Widows Executive Committee and the Scottish Widows Board.  This analysis 
allows the Group to assess whether the accumulations of risk exceed the risk appetites set.    
 
This note summarises these risks and the way in which the Group manages them. 
 

(a)  Governance framework 
 

The Group is part of the Insurance Division of Lloyds Banking Group.  This Division has a risk management function with 
clear terms of reference and with the responsibility for implementing the Lloyds Banking Group risk management 
framework and monitoring the policies on insurance and financial risks. 
 
The main objectives of the risk management process are to ensure that risks are properly identified, risk measurement is 
independent and the capital base is adequate in relation to the risks.  The risks related to the Group’s activities are regularly 
evaluated. 
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The financial condition and operating results of the life insurance business are affected by a number of key risks, including 
insurance risk, market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The performance of the Group, its continuing ability to write 
business and the strategic management of the business depends on its ability to manage these risks.  
 
Lloyds Banking Group retains primary responsibility for the management of investment risks arising in respect of the 
shareholder funds within the Group.  These funds are managed in line with the Lloyds Banking Group and Scottish Widows 
risk policies.  Responsibility for the management of all other risks resides with the Board of each Group company who (with 
the exception of Scottish Widows International Limited, where the Board approves risk policy directly), have delegated their 
authority to the Scottish Widows Executive Committee.   
 
Policy owners, identified from appropriate areas across the business, are responsible for drafting the Lloyds Banking Group 
and Scottish Widows risk policies, for ensuring that they remain up-to-date and for facilitating any changes.  These policies 
are subject to at least an annual review, or earlier if deemed necessary.  Limits are prescribed within which those responsible 
for the day to day management of each Group company can take decisions.  Line management are required to follow 
prescribed reporting procedures to the bodies responsible for monitoring compliance with policy and controlling the risks.  
The Insurance Division Risk Management team is responsible for oversight of the risk policy.  This is in line with the “Three 
Lines of Defence” risk model which has been adopted by the Lloyds Banking Group. 
 

(b)  Capital management framework 
 

The Group has defined the methodology for the management of risk appetite and has approved appropriate limits.  Where 
appropriate for each life company and risk component, limits are defined in terms of the amount of capital required to be 
held to cover certain specified stressed scenarios.   

 
Exposure to each type of risk is monitored against prescribed limits and the results of these tests are reported to the Boards of 
the relevant companies.  Where the exposure to any risk exceeds a trigger amount, the Scottish Widows Executive 
Committee must approve an action plan to reduce the exposure or the Scottish Widows Group Board must approve a revised 
limit. 

 
The business of several of the companies within the Group is regulated by the FSA.  The FSA specifies the minimum amount 
of capital that must be held by each of the regulated companies within the Group in addition to their insurance liabilities.  
Under the FSA rules, each regulated company within the Group must hold assets in excess of the higher of: 
 
 
(i) the Pillar 1 amount, which is calculated by applying fixed percentages to premiums and claims; and 
(ii) the Pillar 2 amount, which is derived from an economic capital assessment undertaken by each regulated company, 

which is reviewed by the FSA.   
 
The minimum required capital must be maintained at all times throughout the year.  The fair value surplus is regularly 
estimated in order to ensure that capital maintenance requirements are being met.   
 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are: 
 
- to comply with the insurance capital requirements set out by the FSA in the UK; 
- to have sufficient further capital to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to 
provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders; and 
- when capital is needed, to require an adequate return to the shareholder by pricing insurance and investment contracts 
according to the level of risk associated with the business written. 

 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to reflect changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the 
amount of dividends paid to the shareholder, return capital to the shareholder, issue new shares or sell assets. 

 
The Company’s capital comprises all components of equity, movements in which are set out in the Statement of Changes in 
Equity and includes subordinated debt (note 32). 
 
The table below sets out the required capital and the regulatory capital held at 31 December in each year.  The current year 
information is, in general, an estimate that will be updated once the FSA returns for the year are finalised. 
 
 
 

 2008 
£ m 

2007 
£ m 

    
Regulatory capital held  3,668 6,752 
Regulatory capital  1,350 4,023 

 

All minimum regulatory requirements were met during the year. 
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(c)  Regulatory risks and framework 
 

The Group faces a number of legal and regulatory risks, reflecting the volume and pace of change within the UK.  This 
impacts the Group both operationally, in terms of costs of compliance and uncertainty about regulatory expectations, and 
strategically, through pressure on key earnings streams.  The latter could potentially result in major changes to business and 
pricing models, particularly in the UK retail market.  Business planning processes continue to reflect change to the regulatory 
environment. 
 
Regulators are interested in protecting the rights of the policyholders and ensuring that the Group is satisfactorily managing 
affairs for the benefit of the policyholders.  Regulators are also keen to ensure that the Group maintains appropriate solvency 
levels to meet unforeseen liabilities arising from economic shocks or natural disasters.  As such, the Group is subject to 
regulatory requirements which prescribe and impose certain restrictive provisions.  

  
(d)  Financial reporting risks 
 

The Company and Group are exposed to the risk that policies and procedures are not sufficient to maintain adequate books 
and records to support statutory (including the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements), regulatory and tax 
reporting and to prevent and detect financial reporting fraud. 
 
The Group has developed procedures to ensure that compliance with both current and potential future requirements are 
understood and that policies are aligned to its risk appetite.  The Group maintains a system of internal controls, consistently 
applied, providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded and undertaken in accordance with delegated 
authorities that permit the preparation and disclosure of financial statements (including consolidated financial statements), 
regulatory reporting and tax returns in accordance with IFRS, statutory and regulatory requirements. 
 
The Group undertakes a programme of work designed to support an annual assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
controls over financial reporting, to identify tax liabilities and to assess emerging legislation and regulation. 

  
(e)  Financial risks 
 

The Group writes a variety of insurance and investment contracts which are subject to a variety of financial risks, as set out 
below.  Contracts can be either single or regular premium and conventional (non-profit), with-profits or unit-linked in nature. 
 
The Group is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets, financial liabilities, reinsurance assets and 
insurance and investment contract liabilities.  In particular, the key financial risk is that long-term investment proceeds are not 
sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance and investment contracts.  The most important components of 
financial risk are market risk, insurance risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
The market risks that the Group primarily faces due to the nature of its investments and liabilities are interest rate risk, price risk 
and currency risk. 
 
The Group manages these risks in a numbers of ways including risk appetite assessment and monitoring of capital resource 
requirements. In addition, the Principles and Practices of Financial Management (“PPFM”) set out the way in which the With 
Profits business is managed.  The Group also uses financial instruments (including derivatives) as part of its business activities 
and to reduce its own exposure to market risk and credit risk.  
 
For with-profits business, subject to minimum guarantees, policyholders’ benefits are influenced by the smoothed investment 
returns on assets held in the With Profits fund.  The smoothing cushions policyholders from daily fluctuations in investment 
markets.  There is limited management discretion in this process, which is managed in accordance with the published PPFM. 
 
The Group bears financial risk in relation to the guaranteed benefits payable under these contracts.  The amount of the guaranteed 
benefits increases as additional benefits are declared and allocated to policyholders.  In the short term, profit and equity are 
largely unaffected by investment returns on assets in the With Profits fund to the extent that the effect of these investment returns 
is absorbed by the unallocated surplus.  However, if the unallocated surplus were eliminated, the cost of the guaranteed benefits 
relative to the assets of the With Profits fund would reduce profit. 
 
For unit-linked business, policyholders’ benefits are closely linked to the investment returns on the underlying internal funds.  In 
the short term, profit and equity are therefore largely unaffected by investment returns on assets in internal unit-linked funds as 
any gains or losses will be largely offset by changes in the corresponding insurance and investment contract liabilities. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost.  The summary 
of significant accounting policies (note 1) describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured and how income and 
expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. 
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 The following tables analyse the carrying amount of assets and liabilities according to their IAS 39 classification: 
 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 239.3 23.7 339.4 26.0 
At fair value through income:     
      Investments at fair value through income     
      - equity securities 25,991.1 8,201.0 35,012.8 11,160.8 
      - debt securities 18,344.3 8,791.9 16,603.7 7,974.0 
      - deposits with credit institutions 5,369.0 21.0 5,101.2 3.0 
      - other investments 162.4 709.0 162.0 843.9 
      Derivative financial instruments 544.1 231.3 632.5 577.1 
Amounts due from reinsurers is respect of 
investment contracts - 17,307.4 - 21,809.5 
At amortised cost:     
      Loans and receivables 1,751.6 1,472.3 1,302.4 1,014.6 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 380.1 8,365.7 339.7 7,022.1 
 52,781.9 45,123.3 59,493.7 50,431.0 
     
Other assets     
Current tax receivable 104.0 60.7 71.2 - 
Investment in subsidiaries - 1,562.4 - 1,527.3 
Investment properties at fair value 2,625.6 1,069.3 3,715.0 1,313.2 
Property and equipment 113.0 21.3 119.4 21.9 
Investment in associates and joint ventures 1,687.1 492.7 2,004.4 2,911.5 
Deferred tax assets 375.4 643.4 222.9 431.5 
Intangible assets 1,179.9 482.3 1,227.6 490.5 
 6,085.0 4,332.1 7,360.5 6,695.9 
Total assets 58,866.9 49,455.4 66,854.2 57,126.9 

 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 
Financial liabilities     
Insurance contract liabilities 21,523.1 19,458.5 22,680.6 20,494.4 
At fair value through income:     
      External interests in mutual investment funds 5,215.9 - 4,321.8 - 
      Investment contract liabilities 25,821.9 23,786.1 33,081.8 30,308.6 
      Derivative financial instruments 271.3 75.4 107.0 66.4 
      Other financial liabilities 889.3 492.1 867.0 541.3 
At amortised cost:     
      Borrowings 49.6 35.8 74.6 7.3 
      Subordinated debt 597.6 597.6 533.9 533.9 
 54,368.7 44,445.5 61,666.7 51,951.9 
     
Other liabilities     
Current tax payables 10.7 - 129.9 102.6 
Accruals and deferred income 163.8 1,048.6 174.2 851.0 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 1.1 - 1.7 - 
Deferred tax liabilities 469.6 307.5 647.6 366.4 
Retirement benefit obligations 51.2 - 58.3 - 
Unallocated surplus 289.2 289.2 552.9 552.9 
Future profits on non-participating business (50.7) (50.7) (22.7) (22.7) 
Other liabilities 9.2 9.2 25.5 25.5 
 944.1 1,603.8 1,567.4 1,875.7 
Total liabilities 55,312.8 46,049.3 63,234.1 53,827.6 

 
 
All of the assets and liabilities set out in the above tables are considered to be current for the purposes of IAS 1.  However, it is 
not expected that all amounts will be settled within the next twelve months.  A maturity analysis of the financial liabilities set out 
in the above tables is given in the liquidity risk section of this note. 
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The timing of the unwind of the deferred tax assets and liabilities is dependent on the timing of the unwind of the temporary 
timing differences, arising between the tax bases of the assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes, to which these balances relate. 

 
The sensitivity analyses given throughout this note are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur as changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated, for 
example changes in interest rates and changes in market values.  The sensitivity analysis presented also represents, in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7, management’s assessment of the most likely other outcomes in respect of each 
sensitivity, rather than worst case scenario positions. 
 
(1) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk of fair value changes in the value of assets and liabilities arising from fluctuations in market prices 
(price risk), market interest rates (interest rate risk) and foreign exchange rates (currency risk), whether such changes are 
caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. 
 
Investment holdings within the Group are diversified across markets and, within markets, across sectors. Holdings of 
individual assets are diversified to minimise specific risk and large individual exposures are monitored closely. For assets held 
outwith unit-linked funds, investments are only permitted in countries and markets which are sufficiently regulated and liquid. 
 
Market risk policy is dependent on the nature of the funds in question, and can be broadly summarised as follows: 
 
 Assets held in shareholder funds are invested in money market funds, gilts and investment grade bonds to match regulatory 

capital requirements. The balance of the shareholder fund assets is managed in line with the policy of Lloyds Banking 
Group to optimise shareholder risk and return.  

 Unit-linked assets are invested in accordance with the nature of the fund mandates. 
 Conventional non-profit liabilities are “close matched” as far as possible in relation to currency, nature and duration.  
 With Profits liabilities are managed in line with the relevant Company’s PPFM.  Benchmarks and minimum holdings in 

asset classes are specified to allow limited investment management discretion whilst ensuring adequate diversification.  
Variable rate bonds provide significant protection to the With Profits fund from the effects of interest rate falls in respect of 
the cost of guaranteed annuity rates. 

 
The sensitivities below are calculated based on internally calculated 12 month forecasts. These forecasts are based on 
fundamental analysis of trends in a range of variables, including economic growth, corporate profits and inflation. The 
analysis uses both statistical models and judgements. They are opinion only, cannot be guaranteed and should not be relied 
upon when making investment decisions. 
 
(i) Price risk 

 
The exposure of the Group’s insurance and investment contract business to price risk relates to financial assets and financial 
liabilities whose values will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices other than from interest and foreign exchange 
fluctuations. This is due to factors specific to individual instruments, their issuers or factors affecting all instruments traded in 
the market. Accordingly, the Group monitors exposure limits both to any one counterparty and any one market. 
 
The sensitivity analysis below illustrates how the fair value of future cashflows in respect of equities and properties, net of 
offsetting movements in insurance and investment contract liabilities, will fluctuate because of changes in market prices at the 
reporting date. 
 

 Impact on profit and equity for the year 
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

 
21.2% (2007: 16.2%) increase in equity prices 53.6 56.4 
21.2% (2007: 16.2%) decrease in equity prices (53.6) (56.4) 
4.6% (2007: 2.8%) increase in property prices 3.4 4.0 
4.6% (2007: 2.8%) decrease in property prices (3.4) (4.0) 

 
(ii) Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
interest rates.  Interest rate risk in respect of the Group’s insurance and investment contracts arises when there is a mismatch in 
duration or yield between liabilities and the assets backing those liabilities. 
 
The Group’s interest rate risk policy requires that the maturity profile of interest-bearing financial assets is appropriately 
matched to the guaranteed elements of the financial liabilities.    
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A fall in market interest rates will result in a lower yield on the assets supporting guaranteed investment returns payable to 
policyholders.  This investment return guarantee risk is managed by matching assets to liabilities as closely as possible. 
An increase in market interest rates will result in a reduction in the value of assets subject to fixed rates of interest which may 
result in losses if, as a result of an increase in the level of surrenders, the corresponding fixed income securities have to be sold. 
 
The effect of changes in interest rates in respect of financial assets which back insurance contract liabilities is given in note 
38 to the financial statements. The effect on the Group of changes in the value of investments held in respect of investment 
contract liabilities due to fluctuations in market interest rates is negligible as any changes will be offset by movements in the 
corresponding liability.  
 
The sensitivity analysis below illustrates how the fair value of future cashflows in respect of interest-bearing financial assets, 
net of offsetting movements in insurance and investment contract liabilities, will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates at the reporting date. 
 
 

 Impact on profit and equity for the year 
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

 
25 basis points (2007: 25 basis points) increase in yield curves (23.7) (1.5) 
25 basis points (2007: 25 basis points) decrease in yield curves 25.6 2.2 

 
The prior year sensitivity set out above has been amended to present the profit and equity impact of the stated change in interest 
rates on the same basis as the current year calculation. 
 
(iii) Currency risk 
 
The Group’s principal transactions are carried out in pounds sterling.  
 
The Group’s financial assets are primarily denominated in the same currencies as its insurance and investment contract 
liabilities.  
 
Other than shareholder funds, all non-linked investments of the non-profit funds are in sterling or are currency matched.  The 
effect on the Group of changes in the value of investments held in respect of investment contract liabilities due to 
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates is negligible as any changes will be offset by movements in the corresponding liability.  
 
The sensitivity analysis below illustrates how the fair value of future cashflows in respect of assets denominated in 
currencies other than sterling, net of offsetting movements in insurance and investment contract liabilities, will change 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates at the reporting date.  The sensitivity analysis has been provided in respect of 
the key foreign currencies to which the Group has exposure. 
 

 Impact on profit and equity for the year 
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

 
15.5% (2007: 4.1%) increase in US Dollar exchange rate 5.9 1.5 
15.5% (2007: 4.1%) decrease in US Dollar exchange rate (5.9) (1.5) 
14.9% (2007: 4.4%) increase in Euro exchange rate 10.3 2.4 
14.9% (2007: 4.4%) decrease in Euro exchange rate (10.3) (2.4) 

 
(2)  Insurance risk 
 
Insurance risk is the risk of reductions in earnings and/or value through financial or operational loss due to fluctuations in the 
timing and amount of benefit payments. The principal risk the Group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims 
and benefit payments exceed the amounts expected at the time of determining the insurance liabilities. 
 
The nature of the Group’s business involves the accepting of insurance risks which primarily relate to mortality, morbidity, 
persistency and expenses. Each company within the Group which transacts new business underwrites policies to ensure an 
appropriate premium is charged for the risk or that the risk is declined.  
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The Group principally writes the following types of life insurance contracts: 
 
 Life assurance – where the life of the policyholder is insured against death or permanent disability, usually for pre-

determined amounts  
 Annuity products – where typically the policyholder is entitled to payments which cease upon death  
 Morbidity products – where the policyholder is insured against the risk of contracting a defined illness 
For contracts where death is the insured risk, the most significant factors that could increase the overall level of claims are 
epidemics or widespread changes in lifestyle, such as eating, smoking and exercise habits, resulting in earlier or more claims 
than expected.  The possibility of a pandemic arising from Avian Flu is regarded as a potentially significant mortality risk.   
 
For contracts where survival is the insured risk, the most significant factor is continued improvement in medical science and 
social conditions that would increase longevity. 
 
For contracts with fixed and guaranteed benefits and fixed future premiums, there are no mitigating terms and conditions that 
significantly reduce the insurance risk accepted.  For contracts with DPF, the participating nature of these contracts results in a 
significant portion of the insurance risk being shared with the policyholder. 
 
Insurance risk is also affected by the policyholders’ right to pay reduced or no future premiums, to terminate the contract 
completely or to exercise a guaranteed annuity option.  As a result, the amount of insurance risk is also subject to policyholder 
behaviour.  On the assumption that policyholders will make decisions that are in their best interests, overall insurance risk will 
generally be aggravated by policyholder behaviour.  For example, it is likely that policyholders whose health has deteriorated 
significantly will be less inclined to terminate contracts insuring death benefits than those policyholders who remain in good 
health. 
 
The Group has taken account of the expected impact of policyholder behaviour in setting the assumptions used to measure 
insurance and investment contract liabilities. 
 
The principal methods available to the Group to control or mitigate mortality and morbidity risk are underwriting, reinsurance, 
claims management and the application of discretionary charges.  Rates of mortality are investigated annually based on the 
Group’s recent experience and future mortality assumptions are set using the latest population data available.  Each Company’s 
reinsurance arrangements are reviewed at least annually. 
 
Persistency risk is the risk associated with the ability to retain long-term business and the ability to renew short-term business.  
The Group aims to reduce its exposure to persistency risk through revising the commission structure on future product 
developments and undertaking various initiatives to promote customer loyalty.  
 
Further information on assumptions, changes in assumptions and sensitivities in respect of insurance and participating 
investment contracts is given in note 38. 
 
(3) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the Group 
to incur a financial loss.     
 
Investment credit risk arises primarily from holding invested assets to meet liabilities, and business credit risk primarily 
arises from exposure to reinsurers and other trade debtors. 
 
Credit risk in respect of unit-linked funds is borne by the policyholders and credit risk in respect of With Profits funds is 
largely borne by the policyholders.  Consequently, the Group has no significant exposure to credit risk for those funds. 
  
For non-linked funds investments, limits on the exposure to a single entity are specified and monitored. Bond exposures are 
managed through credit rating bands and maximum exposures to individual assets and sectors are set. Assets are restricted to 
securities in a specified list of countries, and limits applicable to property portfolios are set to prevent concentration of 
exposure to single tenants and single buildings.  
 
Shareholder funds are managed in line with the Scottish Widows Credit Risk Policy and the wider Lloyds Banking Group 
Credit Risk Policy and the principles are the same as those outlined above in respect of non-linked funds. 
 
Reinsurance is primarily used to reduce insurance risk.  However, it is also sought for other reasons such as improving 
profitability, reducing capital requirements and obtaining technical support.  In addition, reinsurance is also used to offer 
Investment Fund Links which we are unable to provide through other means. The Group’s reinsurance strategy is to 
maximise profitability through the use of reinsurance whilst managing the insurance and credit risk within the constraints of 
the risk appetite limits.   
 
The Group has reinsurance on all significant lines of business where mortality or morbidity risk exceeds set retention limits.  
This does not, however, discharge the Group’s liability as primary insurer.  If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, 
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the Group remains liable for the payment to the policyholder. All new material reinsurance treaties are subject to Board 
approval and all reinsurance arrangements are reviewed annually to ensure that the reinsurance strategy is being achieved.  
This includes an assessment of the exposure to each reinsurer to ensure that it is within the defined limit. 
 
Policies are treated as lapsed when payments from the policyholder have not been received for three consecutive months and 
the policyholder has not provided further information in respect of the non-payment of premiums. 
Exposure to other trade debtors is assessed on a case by case basis, using a credit rating agency where appropriate. 
 

The following table sets out details of those assets which bear credit risk: 

 
2008 2007  

 
 

£ m £ m £ m £ m 

  Group Company Group Company 
At fair value through income:      
      Debt securities at fair value  18,344.3 8,791.9 16,603.7 7,974.0 
      Deposits with credit institutions  5,369.0 21.0 5,101.2 3.0 
      Derivative financial instruments at fair value  544.1 231.3 632.5 577.1 
At amortised cost:      
      Loans and receivables at amortised cost  1,751.6 1,472.3 1,302.4 1,014.6 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities  380.1 8,365.7 339.7 7,022.1 
Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of investment contracts  - 17,307.4 - 21,809.5 
Cash and cash equivalents  239.3 23.7 339.4 26.0 
Total assets bearing credit risk  26,628.4 36,213.3 24,318.9 38,426.3 

 
The tables below analyse financial assets subject to credit risk using Standard & Poor’s rating or equivalent: 
 
Group – As at 31 December 2008 
 

 
 

Total 
 

AAA AA 
 

A 
BBB or 
lower* Not rated 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

       
Debt securities 18,344.3 10,717.5 2,691.4 3,211.6 1,406.0 317.8 
Deposits with credit institutions 5,369.0 5,369.0 - - - - 
Derivative financial instruments 544.1 - 377.1 97.9 - 69.1 
Loans and receivables 1,751.6 141.1 141.1 669.3 44.3 755.8 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance 
contract liabilities 380.1 - 380.1 - - - 
Cash and cash equivalents 239.3 - 239.3 - - - 
Total 26,628.4 16,227.6 3,829.0 3,978.8 1,450.3 1,142.7 

 
*Of which £1,399.7m is BBB rated. 
 
Amounts classed as “not rated” within loans and receivables include £182m due from other group companies which have no 
Standard & Poor’s rating. 
 
As at 31 December 2007 
 

 
 

Total 
 

AAA AA 
 

A 
BBB or 
lower* Not rated 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

       
Debt securities 16,603.7 8,511.4 3,712.9 2,674.3 1,307.7 397.4 
Deposits with credit institutions 5,101.2 5,101.2 - - - - 
Derivative financial instruments 632.5 - 600.8 - - 31.7 
Loans and receivables 1,302.4 117.6 63.0 69.8 33.1 1,018.9 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance 
contract liabilities 339.7 - 339.7 - - - 
Cash and cash equivalents 339.4 - 339.4 - - - 
Total 24,318.9 13,730.2 5,055.8 2,744.1 1,340.8 1,448.0 

 
*Of which £1,273.6m is BBB rated. 
 
 
Assets classified as “not rated” in the above tables are not rated by Standard and Poor’s or an equivalent rating agency. 
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Included in the loans and receivables balance above is £36.4m (2007: £36.9m) in respect of assets that were past due but not 
impaired at the balance sheet date.  There were no impaired assets at 31 December 2008 or 31 December 2007.  No terms in 
respect of financial assets had been renegotiated at 31 December 2008 or 31 December 2007. 
 
Amounts which were past due but not impaired are analysed as follows: 
 
31 December 2008 
 

 Total Less than 1 
month 

1 – 3 months 3 – 12 months More than 12 
months 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

      
Loans and receivables 36.4 34.6 1.6 - 0.2 
Total 36.4 34.6 1.6 - 0.2 

 
 

31 December 2007 
 

 Total Less than 1 
month 

1 – 3 months 3 – 12 months More than 12 
months 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

      
Loans and receivables 36.9 32.1 1.7 0.3 0.1 
Total 36.9 32.1 1.7 0.3 0.1 

 
 

Company – As at 31 December 2008 
 

 
 

Total 
 

AAA AA 
 

A 
BBB or 
lower* Not rated 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

       
Debt securities 8,791.9 5,120.7 1,838.7 1,127.0 594.0 111.5 
Deposits with credit institutions 21.0 21.0 - - - - 
Derivative financial instruments 231.3 - 168.9 17.8 - 44.6 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance 
contract liabilities 

 
8,365.7 - 380.1 - - 7,985.6 

Amounts due from reinsurers in 
respect of investment contracts 

 
17,307.4 - - - - 17,307.4 

Loans and receivables 1,472.3 43.4 123.9 606.5 19.8 678.7 
Cash and cash equivalents 23.7 - 23.7 - - - 
Total 36,213.3 5,185.1 2,535.3 1,751.3 613.8 26,127.8 

 
*Of which £587.2m is BBB rated. 
 
Amounts classed as “not rated” within Loans and receivables include £411m due from other group companies which have no 
Standard & Poor’s rating 

 
As at 31 December 2007 
 

 
 

Total 
 

AAA AA 
 

A 
BBB or 
lower* Not rated 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

       
Debt securities 7,974.0 3,870.9 2,481.4 987.4 565.1 69.2 
Deposits with credit institutions 3.0 3.0 - - - - 
Derivative financial instruments 577.1 - 573.7 - - 3.4 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance 
contract liabilities 7,022.1 - 339.8 - - 6,682.3 
Amounts due from reinsurers in 
respect of investment contracts 21,809.5 - - - - 21,809.5 
Loans and receivables 1,014.6 55.8 26.0 26.0 15.3 891.5 
Cash and cash equivalents 26.0 - 26.0 - - - 
Total 38,426.3 3,929.7 3,446.9 1,013.4 580.4 29,455.9 
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*Of which £532.9m is BBB rated. 
 
Assets classified as “not rated” in the above tables are not rated by Standard and Poor’s or an equivalent rating agency. 
 
Included in the loans and receivables balance above is £35.2m (2007: £32.1m) is respect of assets that were past due but not 
impaired at the balance sheet date.  There were no impaired assets at 31 December 2008 or 31 December 2007.  No terms in 
respect of financial assets had been renegotiated at 31 December 2008 or 31 December 2007. 
 
Amounts which were past due but not impaired are analysed as follows: 

 
31 December 2008 
 

 Total Less than 1 
month 

1 – 3 months 3 – 12 months More than 12 
months 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

      
Loans and receivables 35.2 33.5 1.6 - 0.1 
Total 35.2 33.5 1.6 - 0.1 

 
 

31 December 2007 
 

 Total Less than 1 
month 

1 – 3 months 3 – 12 months More than 12 
months 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

      
Loans and receivables 32.1 31.9 - 0.1 0.1 
Total 32.1 31.9 - 0.1 0.1 

 
 
The following table sets out the maximum counterparty exposure limits permitted at the balance sheet date.  Limits are not 
applied to investments which are UK government securities, approved securities (as defined by the regulations of the 
Financial Services Authority) or investments in funds falling under the UCITS Directive. 
 

 2008 2007 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

 Group Company Group Company 

Equities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Debt and other fixed income securities 960 800 960 800 

Deposits with credit institutions 1,210 1,000 1,210 1,000 

Other investments 2,400 2,000 2,400 2,000 

Total exposure to one counterparty 2,130 2,000 2,420 2,000 
 
 

At 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007, the Group did not have any significant concentration of credit risk with a 
single counterparty or group of counterparties where limits applied.  Where limits did not apply, as set out above, the largest 
exposures were as follows: 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 
 Group Company Group Company 
     
UK Treasury securities 3,449 2,285 2,536 2,072 
Other approved securities 2,319 1,769 2,716 1,898 
UCITS funds 560 560 617 617 

 
 

The largest exposure to any one counterparty, without taking into account collateral held or other credit enhancements, at 31 
December 2008 was £152.6m (2007: £176.4m). 
 
The Group maintains strict control limits on the derivative positions held by each fund as set out in the Group’s Derivatives 
Risk Policy.  
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Collateral in respect of OTC derivatives 
 
The requirement for collateralisation, including the levels at which collateral is required and the types of asset that are 
deemed to be acceptable collateral, are set out in a Credit Support Annex (“CSA”).  A CSA is a bilateral legal agreement 
which, once signed, forms part of the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) agreement between the 
Company and the counterparty. 
 
A CSA must be completed for over the counter (“OTC”) derivatives as part of the contracts for such transactions.  The CSA 
will require collateralisation where any net exposure to a counterparty exceeds the OTC counterparty limit, which must be 
established in accordance with the Scottish Widows Derivatives Risk Policy.  The aggregate uncollateralised exposure to any 
one counterparty must not exceed limits specified in the Scottish Widows Derivative Risk Policy.  Where derivative 
counterparties are related, the aggregate net exposure is considered for the purposes of applying these limits. 
 
Collateralisation is the pledging or receiving of assets as a guarantee against the fulfilment of a future obligation, normally 
through a cash transfer or asset delivery. 

 
The aggregate exposure, net of any collateralisation, to any one counterparty, across all life companies, funds and 
transactions, should not exceed £25m. 
 
Acceptable collateral is defined in each instance and must take into account the quality and appropriateness of the proposed 
collateral as well as being acceptable to the entity receiving the collateral.  Collateral may include the following: 
 

 Sovereign government debt of developed economies 
 Supranational debt denominated in eligible currencies 
 Corporate bonds denominated in eligible currencies 
 Equities denominated in eligible currencies 
 Cash (this is received and invested in the SWIP Global Liquidity Fund) 

 
 
Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged in accordance with the terms of the relevant CSAs entered 
into in respect of various OTC derivative contracts: 
 

 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 
 Group Company Group Company 
Financial assets:     
      Investments at fair value through income 49.9 17.0 16.0 16.0 
Total 49.9 17.0 16.0 16.0 

 
 
The Company has the right to recall any collateral pledged provided that this is replaced with alternative acceptable assets.  
Collateral pledged continues to be recognised on the Company’s balance sheet.  No account is taken of collateral held. 
 
The policy of the Company is not to repledge assets.  In the event of default, assets received as collateral are sold.  Collateral 
with a fair value of £nil (2007: £nil) was sold during the year.  At 31 December 2008, assets with a fair value of £1,400.2m 
(2007: £2,669.8m) were available to the Company to sell in the event of default by the counterparty.  None of these assets 
were past due or impaired at 31 December 2008 or 31 December 2007.   
 
Collateral held in respect of OTC derivatives at 31 December 2008 had a fair value of £128.9m (2007: £3.1m). 
 
All collateral held relates to fully performing assets. 
 
Collateral in respect of stocklending 
 
The group enters into stocklending transactions.  The SWG Board is responsible for setting the parameters of securities 
lending and therefore changes to these parameters. The accepted collateral can include cash, equities, certain bonds and 
money market instruments.  On a daily basis, the fair value of collateral is compared to the fair value of stock on loan. The 
value of collateral must always exceed the value of stock on loan. Further information in respect of collateral relating to 
stocklending is given in note 45. 
 
Securities lending is permitted in accordance with the Scottish Widows Credit Risk Policy on securities lending.  All 
securities lending takes place on an open/call basis, enabling the loan to be recalled at any time within the standard 
settlement terms of the market concerned. 

The policy requires all lending to be undertaken via a partial indemnified programme (where the operator of the programme 
provides an indemnification against borrower and collateral default). The partial programme does not cover the re-
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investment of outright cash and therefore the policy specifies that the Scottish Widows Group Investment Control Committee 
(“SWG ICC”) will set counterparty limits for the re-investment of same.  

Additionally, the SWG ICC will set limits on the maximum amount of any security that may be lent and the markets in 
which lending can take place. 

The policy requires acceptable collateral to be pledged to at least the value of securities lent and sets specific parameters over 
what qualifies as acceptable collateral. 

There were no collateral defaults in respect of securities lending during the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: none) 
which required a call to be made on collateral. 

(4) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet its cash commitments as they fall 
due. Liquidity risk may result from either the inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; or from an 
insurance liability falling due for payment earlier than expected; or from the inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated.     

Liquidity risk has been analysed as arising from payments to policyholders (including those where payment is at the 
discretion of the policyholder), and non policyholder related activity (such as investment purchases and the payment of 
shareholder expenses).   
 
In order to quantify the liquidity risk exposure, various stress tests are considered. Liquidity risk is measured for each 
company by comparing the projected outflow in the stress scenario for the following month against the sum of liquid 
resources available. 
 
For shareholder funds, liquidity risk is managed in line with the Scottish Widows Liquidity Risk Policy and the wider Lloyds 
Banking Group Liquidity and Funding Risk Policy. For non linked funds, investments are arranged to minimise the 
possibility of being a distressed seller whilst at the same time investing to meet policyholder obligations. For unit-linked 
business, deferral clauses are included in policyholder contracts to give time, when necessary, to realise linked assets without 
being a forced seller. 

 
The following tables indicate the timing of the contractual cashflows arising from the Group and Company’s liabilities, as 
required by IFRS 7: 

 
 Group – As at 31 December 2008 
 

Contractual cashflows (undiscounted) Liabilities Carrying 
amount* No stated 

maturity 
Less than 1 

month 
1-3 months 3-12 

months 
1-5 years More than 

5 years 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

        
Insurance 
contract 
liabilities 

 
 

21,523.1 

 
 

- 

 
 

15,229.1 

 
 

55.5 

 
 

258.8 

 
 

1,489.8 

 
 

8,578.2 
Investment 
contract 
liabilities 

 
 

25,821.9 

 
 

- 

 
 

25,821.9 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
External 
interests in 
mutual 
investment 
funds 

 
 
 
 

5,215.9 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

5,215.9 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 
Derivative 
financial 
instruments 

 
 

271.3 

 
 

- 

 
 

119.9 

 
 

22.1 

 
 

1.7 

 
 

9.8 

 
 

15.3 
Subordinated 
debt 

 
597.6 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
28.7 

 
114.8 

 
617.4 

Borrowings 49.6 - 49.6 - - - - 
Other financial 
liabilities 

 
889.3 

 
5.8 

 
883.5 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Total 54,368.7 5.8 47,319.9 77.6 289.2 1,614.4 9,210.9 
 
*The carrying amount is presented on a discounted basis.  In accordance with IFRS 7, the contractual cashflows are presented 
on an undiscounted basis. 
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As at 31 December 2007 
 

Contractual cashflows (undiscounted) Liabilities Carrying 
amount* No stated 

maturity 
Less than 1 

month 
1-3 months 3-12 

months 
1-5 years More than 

5 years 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

        
Insurance 
contract 
liabilities 

 
 

22,680.6 

 
 

- 

 
 

16,534.9 

 
 

51.9 

 
 

244.4 

 
 

1,443.7 

 
 

8,524.3 
Investment 
contract 
liabilities 

 
 

33,081.8 

 
 

- 

 
 

33,081.8 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
External 
interests in 
mutual 
investment 
funds 

 
 
 
 

4,321.8 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

4,321.8 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 
Derivative 
financial 
instruments 

 
 

107.0 

 
 

- 

 
 

4.1 

 
 

49.4 

 
 

13.1 

 
 

37.6 

 
 

78.3 
Subordinated 
debt 

 
533.9 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
28.7 

 
114.8 

 
646.1 

Borrowings 74.6 - 74.6 - - - - 
Other 
financial 
liabilities 

 
 

867.0 

 
 

5.8 

 
 

861.2 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Total 61,666.7 5.8 54,878.4 101.3 286.2 1,596.1 9,248.7 

 
*The carrying amount is presented on a discounted basis.  In accordance with IFRS 7, the contractual cashflows are presented 
on an undiscounted basis. 

 
With-Profits and linked business has an immediate cash surrender value and so is shown in the “Less than 1 month” column. 
£38,875m (2007: £46,804m) of the “Less than 1 month” amount for liabilities is in respect of this business. 
 
The contractual cashflow analysis set out above has been based on the earliest possible contractual date, regardless of the 
surrender penalties that might apply and has not been adjusted to take account of such penalties. 
 
 
An analysis of the above liabilities by contract maturity date, on a discounted basis, is shown below: 

 
As at 31 December 2008 

  
Maturity Analysis for insurance and 
investment contracts 

Total 
£ m 

Less 
than 

1 month 
£ m 

1-3 
months 

£ m 

3-12 
months 

£ m 

1-5 
years 
£ m 

More 
than 5 
years 
£ m 

Insurance contracts 21,523.1 184.7 509.6 1,771.1 4,714.9 14,342.8 
Investment contracts 25,821.9 118.0 300.3 742.7 3,239.8 21,421.1 

 
As at 31 December 2007 

  
Maturity Analysis for insurance and 
investment contract liabilities 

Total 
£ m 

Less 
than 

1 month 
£ m 

1-3 
months 

£ m 

3-12 
months 

£ m 

1-5 
years 
£ m 

More 
than 5 
years 
£ m 

Insurance contracts 22,680.6 200.7 531.0 1,403.5 6,623.2 13,922.2 
Investment contracts 33,081.8 102.0 247.3 620.5 4,164.2 27,947.8 
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 Company – As at 31 December 2008 
 

Contractual cashflows (undiscounted) Liabilities Carrying 
amount* No stated 

maturity 
Less than 1 

month 
1-3 months 3-12 

months 
1-5 years More than 

5 years 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

        
Insurance 
contract 
liabilities 

 
 

19,458.5 

 
 

- 

 
 

15,084.2 

 
 

26.6 

 
 

128.3 

 
 

806.8 

 
 

5,595.1 
Investment 
contract 
liabilities 

 
 

23,786.1 

 
 

- 

 
 

23,786.1 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Derivative 
financial 
instruments 

 
 

75.4 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

11.8 

 
 

(1.6) 

 
 

(5.2) 

 
 

(56.1) 
Subordinated 
debt 

 
597.6 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
28.7 

 
114.8 

 
617.4 

Borrowings 35.8 - 35.8 - - - - 
Other 
financial 
liabilities 

 
 

492.1 

 
 

5.8 

 
 

486.3 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Total 44,445.5 5.8 39,392.4 38.4 155.4 916.4 6,156.4 

 
*The carrying amount is presented on a discounted basis.  In accordance with IFRS 7, the contractual cashflows are presented 
on an undiscounted basis. 

 
 
 As at 31 December 2007 
 

Contractual cashflows (undiscounted) Liabilities Carrying 
amount* No stated 

maturity 
Less than 1 

month 
1-3 months 3-12 

months 
1-5 years More than 

5 years 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

        
Insurance 
contract 
liabilities 

 
 

20,494.4 

 
 

- 

 
 

16,578.9 

 
 

23.0 

 
 

113.6 

 
 

756.9 

 
 

5,360.7 
Investment 
contract 
liabilities 

 
 

30,308.6 

 
 

- 

 
 

30,308.6 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Derivative 
financial 
instruments 

 
 

66.4 

 
 

- 

 
 

3.0 

 
 

19.0 

 
 

6.2 

 
 

48.4 

 
 

91.9 
Subordinated 
debt 

 
533.9 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
28.7 

 
114.8 

 
646.1 

Borrowings 7.3 - 7.3 - - - - 
Other 
financial 
liabilities 

 
 

541.3 

 
 

5.8 

 
 

535.5 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
Total 51,951.9 5.8 47,433.3 42.0 148.5 920.1 6,098.7 

 
*The carrying amount is presented on a discounted basis.  In accordance with IFRS 7, the contractual cashflows are presented 
on an undiscounted basis. 
 
With-Profits and linked business has an immediate cash surrender value and so is shown in the “Less than 1 month” column. 
£36,759m (2007: £43,999m) of the “Less than 1 month” amount for liabilities is in respect of this business. 
  
The contractual cashflow analysis set out above has been based on the earliest possible contractual date, regardless of the 
surrender penalties that might apply and has not been adjusted to take account of such penalties. 
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An analysis of the above liabilities by contract maturity date, on a discounted basis, is shown below: 
 

As at 31 December 2008 
  

Maturity Analysis for insurance and 
investment contract liabilities 

Total 
£ m 

Less 
than 

1 month 
£ m 

1-3 
months 

£ m 

3-12 
months 

£ m 

1-5 
years 
£ m 

More 
than 5 
years 
£ m 

Insurance contracts 19,458.5 187.9 414.4 1,877.8 4,728.8 12,249.6 
Investment contracts 23,786.1 118.2 237.0 807.5 3,247.7 19,375.7 

 
 

As at 31 December 2007 
  

Maturity Analysis for insurance and 
investment contract liabilities 

Total 
£ m 

Less 
than 

1 month 
£ m 

1-3 
months 

£ m 

3-12 
months 

£ m 

1-5 
years 
£ m 

More 
than 5 
years 
£ m 

Insurance contracts 20,494.4 203.9 444.5 1,503.3 6,632.4 11,710.3 
Investment contracts 30,308.6 102.1 200.5 667.9 4,166.6 25,171.5 

 
 
42. Related party transactions 
 
(a)  Ultimate parent and shareholding 

 
The Group’s immediate parent undertaking is Scottish Widows Financial Services Holdings, a company registered in the United 
Kingdom. Scottish Widows Financial Services Holdings has taken advantage of the provisions of the Companies Act 1985 and 
has not produced consolidated financial statements. 

 
The Company’s ultimate parent company and ultimate controlling party is Lloyds Banking Group plc, which is also the parent 
undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group accounts are drawn up and of which the Company is a member.  
Lloyds TSB Bank plc is the parent undertaking of the smallest such group of undertakings. Copies of the Lloyds Banking Group 
plc financial statements in which the Group and Company are consolidated can be obtained from the Group Secretary’s 
Department, Lloyds Banking Group plc, 25 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7HN. 
 

(b)  Transactions and balances with related parties 
 
Transactions between the Group and other companies in the Lloyds Banking Group 
 
In accordance with IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, transactions and balances between Group companies have been eliminated 
on consolidation and have not been reported as part of the consolidated financial statements.  
 
The Group has entered into the following transactions with other related parties during the year and holds the following balances 
with other related parties at the end of the year: 

 
  2008 2007 
Counterparty Transaction type £ m £ m 

Lloyds TSB Scotland Bank account balances 106.6 23.4 
 Interest receivable - 0.2 
 Interest earned - 1.0 
 Interest paid - 0.2 
Scottish Widows Bank plc Bank account balances 484.3 35.6 
 Loan debtor 90.0 90.0 
 Interest earned 14.3 5.3 
 Interest receivable 3.6 0.6 
Lloyds TSB Group Treasury Bank account balances - 231.0 
 Interest receivable - 1.0 
 Interest earned - 11.0 
 Zero coupon bond and derivative instrument 1,184.7 1,525.2 
 Profit on zero coupon bond - 116.1 
 Profit on derivative instrument - 53.5 
 Foreign exchange forward derivative asset - 0.3 
 Foreign exchange forward derivative liability - 2.5 
SWIP Fund Management Limited Units in internal OEIC/Unit Trust funds 1,907.3 961.4 
 Dividends received 16.6 25.7 
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 Dividends receivable 1.1 8.2 
 Annual management charges received 14.5 21.2 
 Annual management charges receivable 1.1 2.1 
 Rebates on annual management charges paid 1.2 0.4 
 Investment management fees paid 14.5 17.6 
 Investment management fees payable - 1.6 
 Rebates received 1.4 1.2 
Lloyds Banking Group plc Shares in ultimate parent undertaking – book cost 166.7 166.7 
 Shares in ultimate parent undertaking – market value 38.4 144.1 
 Dividends received 12.1 10.6 
 Expenses recharge paid 260.9 218.6 
 Expenses recharge payable 32.3 97.2 
 Customer remediation income 57.3 55.4 
 Customer remediation income receivable 1.1 1.4 
Scottish Widows Investment Partnership 
Limited 

Investment managers’ fees paid 54.5 63.1 

 Investment managers’ fees payable 2.8 5.2 
 Expense recharge income received 84.9 91.2 
 Expense recharge income receivable 4.6 9.1 
Cheltenham & Gloucester Building 
Society 

Commission paid - 1.2 

 Commission payable - 0.2 
Lloyds TSB Financial Services Limited Loan capital receivable 99.6 100.0 
General Insurance Commission payable 77.3 26.9 
 Commission paid 36.2 29.5 
 
 
Transactions between the Company and other companies in the Lloyds Banking Group 
 
The Company has entered into the following transactions with other related parties during the year and holds the following 
balances with other related parties at the end of the year: 
 
  2008 2007 
Counterparty Transaction type £ m £ m 

Lloyds TSB Scotland Bank account balances 18.8 0.9 
Scottish Widows Bank plc Bank account balances 70.6 34.6 
 Loan debtor 90.0 90.0 
 Interest earned 5.3 5.3 
 Interest receivable 0.4 0.6 
Lloyds TSB Group Treasury Zero coupon bond and derivative instrument 1,184.7 1,525.2 
 Profit on zero coupon bond - 116.1 
 Profit on derivative instrument - 53.5 
Scottish Widows Unit Trust Managers 
Limited 

Units in internal OEIC funds 631.2 616.0 

 Dividends received 4.8 2.9 
 Dividends receivable 0.3 1.1 
 Investment managers’ fees paid 4.4 2.8 
 Rebates received 4.4 2.8 
SWIP Fund Management Limited Units in internal OEIC/Unit Trust funds 559.0 416.0 
 Dividends received 0.4 0.1 
 Dividends receivable - 0.1 
Scottish Widows Investment Partnership 
Limited 

Investment managers’ fees paid 11.8 13.6 

 Investment managers’ fees payable 1.1 1.1 
Cheltenham & Gloucester Building 
Society 

Commission paid - 1.2 

 Commission payable - 0.2 
Scottish Widows Annuities Limited Reassured premiums paid 309.8 600.6 
 Reassured claims received 259.8 234.3 
 Intercompany debtor 74.7  
 Interest paid 0.7 2.0 
 Subordinated loan note debtor - 200.0 
 Interest received on loan note 9.5 11.0 
 Interest receivable on loan note - 1.0 
Scottish Widows International Limited Reassured claims paid 9.0 16.3 
 Reassured claims payable 21.7 25.0 
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Scottish Widows Property Management 
Limited 

Intercompany debtor 3.3 3.0 

Scottish Widows (Port Hamilton) Limited Loan note 38.3 38.3 
 Loan note interest received 3.5 3.5 
 Intercompany debtor 14.3 14.0 
Scottish Widows Services Limited Expense recharges 221.7 243.8 
 Expense recharges payable 12.3 20.0 
 Customer remediation income received 1.0 3.2 
 Customer remediation income receivable 60.0 57.0 
Scottish Widows Unit Funds Limited Reassured premiums paid 4,773.0 5,326.6 
 Reassured claims received 3,515.3 3,448.2 
 Annual management charges on reassured unitised 

with-profits business paid 
2.3 2.7 

 Annual management charges on reassured unitised 
with-profits business outstanding 

(0.4) 0.7 

 Contingent loan debtor 499.5 437.5 
 Contingent loan interest received 26.3 27.3 
 Contingent loan interest receivable 115.3 89.0 
 Reinsurance commission received 260.0 207.7 
 Renewal commission received 8.7 7.0 
 Renewal commission receivable 1.3 0.6 
 Management charges received 100.6 115.0 
SWIP Global Liquidity Fund plc Account balance 1,701.8 1,877.3 
Lloyds TSB Financial Services Limited Loan capital receivable 99.6 100.0 
General Insurance Commission payable 77.3 26.9 
 Commission paid 36.2 29.5 
Scottish Widows Fund Management 
Limited 

Subordinated debt 0.3 0.3 

 
 
Transactions between the Group and key management 

 
Transactions between the key management personnel of the Group and parties related to them as defined by IAS 24 are as follows: 
 
Key management compensation: 
 
 Group Company 
 2008 2007 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

     
Salaries and other short-term benefits  3.1 3.4 2.9 3.0 
Post-employment benefits - 0.1 - 0.1 
Share-based payments 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.7 
Total 3.9 4.3 3.7 3.8 
 
Certain members of key management in the Group, including the highest paid director, provide services to other companies within 
the Lloyds Banking Group. In such cases, for the purposes of this note, figures have been included based on an apportionment to 
the Group of the total compensation earned.  
 
Of the amount disclosed above, £2.1m Group and £2.0m Company is in respect of Directors of Scottish Widows plc (2007: 
Group £2.3m and Company £2.0m). Retirement benefits are accruing to four Directors (2007: four) under defined benefit 
pension schemes. Three directors (2007: two) are paying into a defined contribution scheme. 
 
Detail regarding the highest paid director is as follows: 
 
 Group Company 
 2008 2007 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m £ m £ m 

     
Apportioned aggregate emoluments 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 
     
Defined benefits pension scheme accrued benefit at 31 
December 

 
0.3 

 
0.3 

 
0.3 

 
0.2 

 



SCOTTISH WIDOWS PLC  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

75 

Certain members of key management in the Group, including the highest paid director, provide services to other companies within 
the Lloyds Banking Group. In such cases, for the purposes of this note, details of other transactions between the Group and key 
management are disclosed in the financial statements of Scottish Widows Group Limited. 
 
The highest paid director exercised share options during the year and was granted shares in respect of qualifying service during the 
year.  This was also the case in the prior year. 
 
 

43. Share-based payments 
 

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Company’s ultimate parent company operated the following share-based 
payment schemes, all of which are equity settled. 

 
Executive schemes 

 
The Executive share option schemes were long-term incentive schemes available to certain senior executives of the Group, 
with grants usually made annually.  Options are granted within limits set by the rules of the schemes relating to the number 
of shares under option and the price payable on the exercise of options.  The last grant of executive options was made in 
August 2005. These options were granted without a performance multiplier and the maximum limit for the grant of options in 
normal circumstances was three times annual salary. Between April 2001 and August 2004, the aggregate value of the award 
based upon the market price at the date of grant could not exceed four times the executive’s annual remuneration and, 
normally, the limit for the grant of options to an executive in any one year would be equal to 1.5 times annual salary with a 
maximum performance multiplier of 3.5.  Prior to 18 April 2001, the normal limit was equal to one year’s remuneration and 
no performance multiplier was applied. 
 

 Performance conditions for executive options 
 
 For options granted up to March 2001 

 
 
Options granted 

 
Performance conditions 

  
March 1998 - August 1999 Growth in earnings per share which is equal to the aggregate percentage change in the 

Retail Price Index plus two percentage points for each complete year of the relevant 
period together with a further condition that Lloyds Banking Group plc’s ranking based on 
shareholder return (calculated by reference to both dividends and growth in share price) 
over the relevant period should be in the top fifty companies of the FTSE 100. 

March 2000 - March 2001 As for March 1998 - August 1999 except that there must have been growth in the earnings 
per share equal to the change in the Retail Price Index plus three percentage points for 
each complete year of the relevant period. 

 
In respect of options granted between March 1998 and March 2001, the relevant period for the performance conditions 
begins at the end of the financial year preceding the date of grant and will continue until the end of the third subsequent year 
or, if not met, the end of such later year in which the conditions are met.  Once the conditions have been satisfied the options 
will remain exercisable without further conditions.  If they are not satisfied by the tenth anniversary of the grant the option 
will lapse. 
 
For options granted from August 2001 to August 2004 
 
The performance condition is linked to the performance of Lloyds Banking Group plc’s total shareholder return (calculated 
by reference to both dividends and growth in share price) against a comparator group of 17 companies including Lloyds 
Banking Group plc. 
 
The performance condition is measured over a three year period commencing at the end of the financial year preceding the 
grant of the option and continuing until the end of the third subsequent year.  If the performance condition is not then met, it 
will be measured at the end of the fourth financial year.  If the condition has not then been met, the options will lapse. 
 
To meet the performance conditions, the Group’s ranking against the comparator group must be at least ninth.  The full grant 
of options will only become exercisable if the Group is ranked first.   A performance multiplier (of between nil and 100 per 
cent) will be applied below this level to calculate the number of shares in respect of which options granted to executive 
directors will become exercisable, and will be calculated on a sliding scale.  If Lloyds Banking Group plc is ranked below 
median the options will not be exercisable. 
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Options granted to senior executives other than executive directors are not so highly leveraged and as a result, different 
performance multipliers are applied to their options.  For the majority of executives, options are granted with the 
performance condition but no performance multiplier. 
 
For options granted in 2005 
 
The same conditions apply as for grants made up to August 2004, except that: 
 
 The performance condition is linked to the performance of Lloyds Banking Group plc’s total shareholder return 

(calculated by reference to both dividends and growth in share price) against a comparator group of 15 companies 
including Lloyds Banking Group plc; 

 if the performance condition has not been met at the end of the third subsequent year, the options will lapse; and 
 the full grant of options becomes exercisable only if the Group is ranked in the top four places of the comparator 

group. A sliding scale applies between fourth and eighth positions.  If Lloyds Banking Group is ranked below the 
median (ninth or below) the options will not be exercisable and will lapse. 

 
Save-As-You-Earn schemes 
 
Eligible employees may enter into contracts through the Save-As-You-Earn (SAYE) schemes to save up to £250 per month 
and, at the expiry of a fixed term of three or five years, have the option to use these savings within six months of the expiry 
of the fixed term to acquire shares in Lloyds Banking Group plc at a discount, which is currently 20 per cent of the market 
price at the date the options were granted.  Grants in periods up to 31 December 2001 also had options exercising after seven 
years. 
 
Other share option plans 
 
Long-Term Incentive Plan 
 
The Long-Term Incentive Plan introduced in 2006 is a long-term incentive scheme aimed at delivering shareholder value by 
linking the receipt of shares to an improvement in the performance of the Group over a three year period.  Awards are made 
within limits set by the rules of the plan, with the limits determining the maximum number of shares that can be awarded 
equating to three times annual salary, in exceptional circumstances this may increase up to four times annual salary. 
 
The performance conditions for awards made in May and August 2006 are as follows: 
 
(i)  For 50 per cent of the award (the ‘EPS Award’) – the percentage increase in earnings per share of the Group (on a 

compound annualised basis) over the relevant period must be at least an average of 6 percentage points per annum 
greater than the percentage increase (if any) in the Retail Price Index over the same period.  If it is less than 3 per cent 
per annum the EPS Award will lapse.  If the increase is more than 3 per cent but less than 6 per cent per annum then 
the proportion of shares released will be on a straight line basis between 17.5 per cent and 100 per cent.  The relevant 
period commenced on 1 January 2006 and ends on 31 December 2008. 

 
(ii)  For the other 50 per cent of the award (the ‘TSR Award’) – it will be necessary for the Group’s total shareholder return 

(calculated by reference to both dividends and growth in share price) to exceed the median of a comparator group (14 
companies) over the relevant period by an average of 7.5 per cent per annum for the TSR Award to vest in full.  17.5 
per cent of the TSR Award will vest where the Group’s total shareholder return is equal to median and vesting will 
occur on a straight line basis in between these points.  Where the Group’s total shareholder return is below the median 
of the comparator group, the TSR Award will lapse.  The relevant period commenced on 1 January 2006 and ends on 
31 December 2008. 

 
The performance conditions for awards made in March and August 2007 are as follows: 
 
(i) For 50 per cent of the award (the ‘EPS Award’) – the performance condition is as described for May 2006 with the 

relevant performance period commencing on 1 January 2007 and ending on 31 December 2009. 
 
(ii) For the other 50 per cent of the award (the ‘TSR Award’) – the performance condition is as described for May 2006 

with the relevant performance period commencing on 8 March 2007 (the date of award) and ending on 7 March 2010. 
 
The performance conditions for awards made in March, April, August and September 2008 are as follows: 

 
(i) For 50 per cent of the award (the EPS Award) – the performance condition is as described for May 2006 with the 
relevant performance period commencing on 1 January 2008 and ending on 31 December 2010. 

 
(ii) For the other 50 per cent of the award (the TSR Award) – the performance condition is as described for May 2006, 
except that the comparator group comprises of 13 companies, with the relevant performance period commencing on 6 March 
2008 (the date of the first award) and ending on 5 March 2011. 
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Performance share plan 
 
Under the performance share plan, introduced during 2005, directors will be eligible for an award of free shares, known as 
performance shares, to match the bonus shares awarded as part of their 2004 and 2005 bonus.  The maximum match will be 
two performance shares for each bonus share, awarded at the end of a three year period.  The actual number of shares 
awarded will depend on the Group’s total shareholder return performance measured over a three year period, compared to 
other companies in the comparator group.  The maximum of two performance shares for each bonus share will be awarded 
only if the Group’s total shareholder return performance places it first in the comparator group; one performance share for 
each bonus share will be granted if the Group is placed fifth; and one performance share for every two bonus shares if the 
Group is placed eighth (median). Between first and fifth, and fifth and eighth, sliding scales will apply.  If the total 
shareholder return performance is below median, no performance shares will be awarded.  There will be no retest.  Whilst 
income tax is deducted from the bonus before deferral into the plan, where a match of performance shares is justified, these 
shares will be awarded as if income tax had not been deducted. 
 
Share incentive plan  
 
Free shares 
 
An award of shares may be made annually to employees based on a percentage of the employees’ salary in the preceding 
year up to maximum of £3,000; any excess is awarded as cash.  The percentage is normally announced concurrently with the 
Group’s annual results and the price of the shares awarded in announced at the time of grant.  The shares awarded are held in 
trust for a mandatory period of three years on the employees’ behalf.  The award is subject to a non-market based condition: 
if an employee leaves the Group within this three year period for other than a ‘good’ reason, a portion of the shares awarded 
will be forfeited (for awards made up to April 2005, only a portion of the shares would be forfeited: 75% within one year of 
the award, 50% within two years and 25% within three years). 

 
The number of shares awarded relating to free shares in 2008 had an average fair value of £4.38 (2007: £5.82), based on the 
market price at the date of award. 

 
Matching shares 
 
The Group undertakes to match shares purchased by employees up to the value of £30 per month.  These shares are held in 
trust for a mandatory period of three years on the employees’ behalf.  The award is subject to a non-market based condition; 
if an employee leaves within this three year period for other than a ‘good’ reason or the accompanying partnership shares are 
sold within that time, 100% of the matching shares are forfeited (or the portion relating to the shares sold). 
 
The number of shares awarded relating to matching shares in 2008 had an average fair value of £2.56 (2007: £5.49), based 
on market prices at the date of award. 
 
Other information 
 
The charge of £6.7m (2007: £5.6m) made to the income statement represents the Company’s share of the cost of the above 
schemes.  This charge has been allocated to the Company based on the number of the Company's employees who participate 
in the above schemes.  It is not practicable for the Company to provide information regarding the ranges of exercise prices, 
weighted average exercise prices, weighted average remaining contractual life information and the number of options 
outstanding that is specific to the Company's employees without incurring significant additional cost. 
 
Full details of the ranges of exercise prices, weighted average exercise prices, weighted average remaining contractual life 
information, options granted, forfeited, exercised, cancelled and expired during the period and the number of options 
outstanding and exercisable at the end of the year for the above schemes overall can be found in the 2008 annual report and 
accounts of the Company's ultimate parent company.  Copies of the ultimate parent company's 2008 annual report and 
accounts may be obtained from the Company Secretary's Department, Lloyds Banking Group plc, 25 Gresham Street, 
London, EC2V 7HN.  
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44. Operating leases 
 

The future minimum rental payments receivable under non-cancellable leases are as follows: 
 
 2008 2007 
 £ m £ m 

   
Within 1 year  187.2 210.3 
Between two and five years 662.5 763.5 
Beyond five years 1,184.5 1,516.7 
Total 2,034.2 2,490.5 
 
Generally the Group’s operating leases are for terms of 15 years or more. 
 
 

45.  Stocklending 
 
The aggregate value of securities on loan by the Group is £4,562m (2007: £4,993m). Securities on loan are included in 
investments at fair value through income and no account is taken of collateral held. The aggregate value of collateral held is 
£4,724m (2007: £5,073m). This collateral is in the form of high quality bonds and cash. 
 
 

46.  Events after the reporting period 
 

With effect from 1 January 2009, the linked life business which the Company reassured to Scottish Widows Unit Funds 
Limited (“SWUF”) was recaptured and this business will therefore be written directly by Scottish Widows plc.  In order to 
achieve this, the linked life assets and liabilities of SWUF were transferred to the Company under Case 5 of Section 105 (3) 
of Part VII of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) on 1 January 2009. As part of this transfer, realised 
and unrealised capital gains tax losses of £348m were transferred to the Company.  The financial impact of the recapture on 
the solvency position of the Company was minimal and the transfer had no impact on surplus assets.  The value of assets and 
liabilities transferred was £4,072m and £4,072m respectively. 
 
 

47. Capital commitments 
 

The Group has given an undertaking to provide up to EUR 85m of capital to the European Balanced Property Fund.  At 31 
December 2008, EUR 77.4m had been drawn down (2007: EUR 57.8m).  The remainder of the funds committed can be 
drawn down as required by the Fund. 
 
The Group has contracted for, but not paid for, £80.9m (2007: £105.0m) development expenses for investment property. The 
Company has contracted for £74.8m (2007: £76.7m) of this amount. 
 
  

48.  Standards and interpretations in issue but not adopted early 
 
The following standards, amendments to and interpretations of published standards have been issued and will be relevant to 
the Group’s operations but have not been adopted early by the Group: 
 
 IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).  This standard 

replaces IAS 14 “Segment Reporting” and requires reporting of financial and descriptive information about operating 
segments which are based on the way in which financial information is evaluated and reported internally.  This standard 
will only impact on disclosures made by the Group and Company and will therefore have no impact on the financial 
results or position of the Group or Company. 

 
 Amendment to IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).  This 

standard requires that borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset should form part of the cost of that asset.  Other borrowing costs should be recognised as an expense.  
The amendment removes the previously allowable alternative treatment of immediately recognising as an expense 
borrowing costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale.  Adoption of this 
standard will have no impact on the financial results or position of the Group or Company as the alternative treatment 
previously allowed under IAS 23 was not adopted.   

 
 Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2009).  This standard sets out overall requirements for the presentation of financial statements, guidelines for 
their structure and minimum requirements for their content.  All changes in equity in respect of transactions with 
shareholders in their capacity as shareholders are required to be presented separately from changes in equity arising 
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from transactions with other parties (“non-owner”), in a statement of changes in equity.  All non-owner changes in 
equity (comprehensive income) are required to be presented in one statement of comprehensive income or in two 
statements (an income statement and a statement of comprehensive income).  The changes required on adoption of this 
standard will relate only to presentation and disclosure and will therefore have no overall impact on the financial results 
or position of the Group or Company.  IAS 1 has been further amended by an amendment to IAS 32 “Financial 
Instruments: Presentation”, details of which are set out in later in this section. 

 
 Amendment to IFRS 3 "Business Combinations" (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009).  

The scope of this standard has been extended to include business combinations involving only mutual entities and to 
business combinations achieved through contract alone.  The definition of a business combination has also been revised 
to focus on control.  All consideration, in any form, transferred by the acquirer is recognised and measured at fair value 
at the acquisition date, including any contingent consideration.  Any goodwill arising from a business combination may 
be calculated by reference to the parent's share of net assets or it may include goodwill related to the minority interest.  
Previously, goodwill was measured as the excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer's interest in 
the net assets of the acquiree.  All transaction costs associated with a business combination are to be expensed as 
incurred.  Previously, such costs were included as part of the cost of the acquisition.  Adoption of this standard will only 
be required in respect of any future business combinations undertaken by the Company and will not otherwise have any 
impact on the financial results or position of the Company.  This standard has not yet been endorsed by the European 
Union.  

 
 Amendment to IAS 27 "Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements" (effective for accounting periods beginning 

on or after 1 July 2009).  The standard requires that any changes in the parent's ownership of a subsidiary after control 
is obtained that do not result in a loss of control should be accounted for as transactions with equity holders in their 
capacity as equity holders.  As a result, any gains or losses arising from such transactions would be taken directly to 
equity rather than being recognised through the income statement.  The standard also specifies the accounting required 
when control of an entity is lost.  Adoption of this standard will only be required in respect of any future changes in the 
control of entities accounted for by the Company in accordance with IAS 27.  Currently, such transactions are generally 
accounted for under IAS 39, as set out at policy (d).     

 
 Amendment to IFRS 2 "Share-based Payments" (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).  

This standard clarifies that vesting conditions are service conditions and performance conditions only.  Any other 
features of a share-based payment scheme are not vesting conditions.  Previously, the standard stated that vesting 
conditions included service and performance conditions, but was silent as to whether other features of a share-based 
payment agreement could fall within the definition of vesting conditions.  The standard also amends the definition of 
performance conditions to require the completion of a service period in addition to the specified performance standards.  
In addition, the standard also specifies that all cancellations, whether by the entity or by other parties, should receive 
the same accounting treatment.  Under IFRS 2, a cancellation of equity instruments is accounted for as an acceleration 
of the vesting period.  Therefore, any amount that would otherwise have been recognised in the income statement over 
the remainder of the vesting period is instead recognised immediately in the income statement.  Any payments made 
with the cancellation (up to the fair value of the equity instruments), is accounted for as the repurchase of the equity 
interest.  Any payments in excess of the fair value of the equity instruments granted is recognised as an expense in the 
income statement.  Adoption of this standard will have no impact on the financial results or position of the Company.   

 
 Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation 

(effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).  The amendments are relevant to entities that 
have issued financial instruments that are (i) puttable financial instruments (instruments which allow the holder to 
require the issuer to redeem the instruments for cash); or (ii) instruments, or components of instruments, that impose on 
the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation.  
Under the revised IAS 32, subject to extensive detailed criteria being met, such instruments will be classified as equity 
whereas, prior to these amendments, they would have been classified as financial liabilities.  The amendments will 
require reclassifications from or to equity when the specified criteria are no longer met, or when they are subsequently 
met.  IAS 1 has been amended to require disclosure of (i) summary quantitative date about the amount classified as 
equity; (ii) the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for redeeming the instruments; and (iii) the expected cash 
outflow on redemption and how this has been calculated in respect of a puttable financial instrument which has been 
classified within equity.  Adoption of these amendments will have no impact on the financial results or position of the 
Group or Company.   

 
 Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards 2008 (effective for accounting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2009) – this is the first standard published under the IASBs annual improvements process, which is 
intended to deal with non-urgent, minor amendments to standards.  The standard includes 35 amendments and is split 
into two parts (i) amendments that result in accounting changes for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes; 
and (ii) amendments that are terminology or editorial changes only.  Adoption of this standard will have only a minor 
impact on some of the disclosures given in the Group and Company financial statements. 

 
 Amendments to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” and IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures” (effective from 1 July 2008, with any reclassification of a financial asset made on or after 1 November 
2008 being effective only from the date on which the reclassification is made).  The amendments allow IFRS reporters 
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to reclassify financial instruments in the same manner as currently permitted under US generally accepted accounting 
practice (“US GAAP”).  The changes to IAS 39 permit an entity to reclassify non-derivative financial assets falling 
within the scope of IAS 39 out of the fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) and available for sale (“AFS”) 
categories in limited circumstances.  Financial liabilities, derivatives and financial assets designated at FVTPL on initial 
recognition under the fair value option may not be reclassified and the amendments do not permit reclassification into 
FVTPL.  All reclassifications must be made at the fair value of the financial asset at the date of reclassification and any 
previously recognised gains or losses cannot be reversed.  Such reclassifications will trigger additional reporting 
requirements and IFRS 7 is accordingly amended to require disclosure of the amount of assets reclassified, the carrying 
amounts and fair values of all financial assets reclassified, the fair value gain or loss recognised in the period in which 
reclassification occurs and the gain or loss that would have been recognised had assets not been reclassified.  Adoption 
of these amendments will have no impact on the financial results or position of the Group or Company as no financial 
assets falling within the scope of these amendments are held. 
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